Applied Energy 204 (2017) 780-806

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

**Applied Energy** 

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apenergy

# Advances and challenges in lithium-air batteries

P. Tan, H.R. Jiang, X.B. Zhu, L. An, C.Y. Jung, M.C. Wu, L. Shi, W. Shyy\*, T.S. Zhao\*

Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Clear Water Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong, China

# HIGHLIGHTS

• The overall picture about the present lithium-air batteries is reviewed.

• The challenges of battery's electrolyte and electrodes are emphasized.

• Several possible research directions for performance improvements are highlighted.

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 March 2017 Received in revised form 16 June 2017 Accepted 15 July 2017 Available online 4 August 2017

Keywords: Lithium-air battery Challenge Electrolyte Air electrode Lithium electrode

## ABSTRACT

Rechargeable lithium-air batteries have ultra-high theoretical capacities and energy densities, allowing them to be considered as one of the most promising power sources for next-generation electric vehicles. The technology has been honed in various ways over the years, but it still experiences critical issues that need to be addressed in order to make it commercially viable. For instance, its practical capacity, round-trip efficiency, and cycling life are among the factors that need to be improved. In this review, the developments of this type of battery are presented. In particular, the system levels of design that encompass the optimization of the battery's electrolyte and electrodes are discussed. More importantly, this report provides perspectives on achieving the desired battery performance to meet the demands of commercial viability.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

# Contents

1	Introd	duction		701			
1.	Introduction						
2.	Electr	lectrolytes					
	2.1.	Non-ac	queous electrolytes	783			
		2.1.1.	Stability issues	783			
		2.1.2.	Functional additives	784			
	2.2.	Solid-s	tate electrolytes	785			
		2.2.1.	NASICON-type oxides	785			
		2.2.2.	Single-crystal silicon membranes	785			
		2.2.3.	Polymer electrolytes	786			
2.3. Aqueous electrolytes		Aqueou	us electrolytes	786			
		2.3.1.	Limited energy density	787			
		2.3.2.	Stability towards lithium ion conducting ceramics	787			
	2.4.	Summa	ary of challenges in electrolytes	787			
3. Air electrodes		·····	788				
	3.1.	ıre design	788				
		3.1.1.	Enlargement of reaction boundaries in solid-state lithium-air batteries	788			
		3.1.2.	Design of proper structures in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries	788			
		3.1.3.	Enhancement of species transport in liquid electrolytes	790			

\* Corresponding authors. E-mail addresses: weishyy@ust.hk (W. Shyy), metzhao@ust.hk (T.S. Zhao).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.07.054 0306-2619/© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.







	3.2. Reaction kinetics			
		3.2.1. Types of catalysts	91	
		3.2.2. Mechanisms of catalysts in discharge and charge	91	
	3.3.	Long-term stability	93	
		3.3.1. Instability of carbon materials	93	
		3.3.2. Application of non-carbon electrodes	94	
	3.4.	Operation in the air	95	
		3.4.1. Oxygen selective membranes	95	
		3.4.2. Decomposition of side products	96	
	3.5.	Summary of challenges in air electrodes	97	
4.	I. Lithium electrodes			
	4.1.	Contaminations from O <sub>2</sub> /H <sub>2</sub> O crossover	98	
	4.2. Dendrite issues			
	4.3. Alternatives of lithium metal			
	4.4.	Summary of challenges in lithium electrodes	00	
5.	Concl	luding remarks and perspectives	00	
	Ackno	owledgements	00	
	Refer	rences	01	

#### 1. Introduction

Global warming and finite oil reserves are two issues that exert tremendous pressure on the traditional vehicle industry. Radically different from the conventional gasoline-fuelled vehicles, electric vehicles (EV), which are powered by rechargeable batteries, not only relieve the pressure on gasoline usage but perhaps more importantly, eradicate pollution generated from exhausts, lending hopes to the vehicle industry. To date, one of the most promising candidates for such power sources is the lithium-ion battery [1-3]. It has demonstrated a reasonable energy density (theoretical value:  $\sim$ 400 W h kg<sup>-1</sup>), which is much higher than that of conventional lead-acid batteries (30-40 W h kg<sup>-1</sup>) and nickel-cadmium batteries  $(40-60 \text{ W h kg}^{-1})$  [4]. As a result, lithium-ion batteries have been used as the power source for electric vehicles with achieving a driving distance of  $\sim$ 400 km per charge [5]. Despite the progress accomplished to date, however, the specific energy densities of lithium-ion batteries are still far inferior to that of the conventional gasoline engines ( $\sim$ 13,000 W h kg<sup>-1</sup>) [6]. Thus, the exploitation of new energy storage technologies for EVs is still a grand challenge.

In attempts to improve the energy density, much attention has been paid to metal-air batteries, especially lithium-air, aluminumair, and zinc-air batteries [7]. In this type of batteries, oxygen is straight obtained from air, as opposed to storing an internal oxidizer, and the pure metal is used as the electrode instead of conventional intercalated materials. Theoretically, the energy density of metal-air batteries only relies on the metal electrode so that it can be significantly increased. Among the metal-air batteries, the lithium-air battery has garnered the most attention, predominantly because lithium is the lightest metal. This means that it has the highest theoretical capacity (3862 A h kg<sup>-1</sup>), which corresponds to an energy density of  $11,680 \text{ W} \text{ h kg}^{-1}$  for a potential of about 3.0 V. Even based on the consideration of the entire battery system, the energy density of  $\sim$ 1000 W h kg<sup>-1</sup> is still several times higher than that of lithium-ion batteries [8], showing the remarkable potential to completely replace gasoline in vehicles.

The fundamental chemistry of lithium-air batteries involves lithium dissolution and deposition on the lithium electrode (or anode) and oxygen reduction reaction (ORR) and oxygen evolution reaction (OER) on the air electrode (or cathode) [9]. Since the demonstration of a prototype rechargeable lithium-air battery by Abraham and Jiang in 1996 [10], many advancements have been made due to worldwide attention. In terms of electrolyte used, four types of lithium-air batteries have been proposed and developed: non-aqueous, aqueous, hybrid non-aqueous/aqueous, and solid-state lithium-air batteries [4], as schematically illustrated in Fig. 1. A typical non-aqueous lithium-air battery is made up of a lithium electrode and an air electrode saturated with a non-aqueous electrolyte composed of a lithium salt dissolved in a non-aqueous solvent (Fig. 1a). The typical route in electrolytes was proposed by Abraham and co-workers [11–13], involving the reduction of oxygen to lithium superoxide (LiO<sub>2</sub>) through a one-electron transfer as:

$$O_2 + Li^+ + e^- \rightarrow LiO_2 \tag{1}$$

followed by a disproportionation reaction:

$$2\text{LiO}_2 \rightarrow \text{Li}_2\text{O}_2 + \text{O}_2 \tag{2}$$

and/or another one-electron-transfer electrochemical process:

$$\text{LiO}_2 + \text{Li}^+ + e^- \rightarrow \text{Li}_2\text{O}_2 \tag{3}$$

to form lithium peroxide  $(Li_2O_2)$  as the main discharge product [14– 16], which is insoluble in the non-aqueous electrolyte, filling the void spaces or covering the surface areas of the porous cathode. To make the battery rechargeable, electrochemically decomposition of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to lithium and oxygen is required. The reaction during charge is thought to be [17]:

$$Li_2O_2 \to 2Li^+ + 2e^- + O_2 \tag{4}$$

and/or

$$Li_2O_2 \rightarrow Li^+ + e^- + LiO_2 \tag{5}$$

In non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, oxygen is reduced and forms solid  $\text{Li}_2\text{O}_2$  in the porous cathode. The capacity of this battery system is therefore mainly limited by the clog of the solid product



Fig. 1. Schematic configurations of lithium-air batteries.

and/or passivation of active surfaces at the porous cathode [18]. To address such problem, a new type of lithium-air batteries was proposed by Visco et al. in 2004 [19]. As schemed in Fig. 1b, an aqueous lithium-air battery is basically made up of a lithium anode and a porous air electrode with an aqueous electrolyte. To protect the lithium anode from the solvent (water), a solid-state lithium ion conducting membrane is placed on the anode [20–25]. To avoid the direct contact between the lithium and the solid electrolyte membrane and to increase the lithium ion conductivity, a hybrid non-aqueous/aqueous system has therefore been proposed [26– 31], with a non-aqueous electrolyte filled in between (Fig. 1c). Different from those of non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, the reaction in basic solutions is:

$$4\text{Li} + \text{O}_2 + 2\text{H}_2\text{O} \leftrightarrow 4\text{Li}^+ + 4\text{OH}^- \tag{6}$$

Instead of forming solid  $Li_2O_2$ , the discharge product is soluble lithium hydroxide (LiOH). However, the solubility of LiOH is limited to 5.25 M at room temperature. Otherwise, precipitates of LiOH·H<sub>2</sub>O starts to form, thus limiting the specific capacity to be 130 mAh g<sup>-1</sup> when considering the electrolyte (H<sub>2</sub>O) participates in the reaction [32]. Although the solubility of LiOH can be effectively increased with the use of lithium acetate salts [21,22], the specific energy of an aqueous lithium-air battery is, therefore, lower than that of a non-aqueous lithium-air battery when considering whole reactants [32,33]. In the charge process, oxygen evolves at the air electrode and lithium deposits on the lithium electrode with the help of electrocatalysts [34].

The above-mentioned three types of lithium-air batteries are based on liquid electrolytes, which may cause the leakage and safety issues. A remedy is to develop a solid-state lithium-air battery without using any liquid electrolytes, as schemed in Fig. 1d. Till now, many solid-state lithium ion conducting materials have been developed, and some types have been tested in lithium-air batteries, such as polymers, glass-ceramics, and single-crystalline silicon [35]. Among them, NASICON-type glass-ceramics, including lithium aluminum titanium phosphate (LATP, Li<sub>1+x</sub>Al<sub>x</sub>Ti<sub>2-x</sub>(PO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>) and lithium aluminum germanium phosphate (LAGP, Li<sub>1+x</sub>Al<sub>x</sub>-Ge<sub>2-x</sub>(PO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>), have been deeply studied. It is proposed that LAGP possesses an inherent characteristic to absorb oxygen molecules, followed by the reduction of oxygen to superoxide and peroxide molecules as [36]:

$$2LAGP-Li^{+} + O_2 \rightarrow 2LAGP-Li^{+}: O \tag{7}$$

$$2LAGP-Li^{+}: O + 2e^{-} \rightarrow 2LAGP-Li^{+} + 2O^{-}$$
(8)

$$2\mathrm{Li}^{+} + 20^{-} \rightarrow \mathrm{Li}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{2} \tag{9}$$

Similar to non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, the discharge product in solid-state lithium-air batteries is solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and the charge process is the electrochemical decomposition of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.

Although different types of lithium-air batteries involve different reaction mechanisms and materials, they also share some important features. For instance, the reactions of non-aqueous and solid-state lithium-air batteries are the formation and decomposition of solid product  $\text{Li}_2\text{O}_2$ ; while in aqueous and hybrid systems, the product is in the dissolved phase (LiOH). Solid-state electrolyte membranes are crucial components for aqueous, hybrid, solid-state, and even non-aqueous lithium-air batteries [37,38], which not only transport lithium ions but also protect the lithium anode. During the past years, dozens of reviews have been published focused on the technical issues and challenges in one or several types of lithium-air batteries, such as assessment of electrolytes, materials and structures of the air electrodes, and improved understanding of reaction mechanisms [39–57]. However, the developments of battery components toward the practical applications, covering four types of batteries, have not been systematically reviewed. In this article, we focus on the advances and challenges that encompass the optimization of the battery's electrolyte and electrodes. The remaining part of this paper is organized as follows: Section 2 summarizes different types of electrolytes in lithium-air batteries, including non-aqueous, solidstate, and aqueous electrolytes; Section 3 introduces the challenges of the air electrode, including the structure design, the reaction kinetics, the long-term stability, and the operation in ambient air; and Section 4 reviews the lithium electrode, including contaminations from oxygen and water crossover, suppression of lithium dendrite, and alternative materials of lithium metal. In Section 5, future research directions of lithium-air batteries are highlighted.

## 2. Electrolytes

In lithium-air batteries, electrolytes are used to transport lithium ions, dissolve oxygen gas and transport it to the reaction sites (non-aqueous and aqueous electrolytes), and protect the lithium anode (aqueous, hybrid, and solid-state lithium-air batteries). For aqueous electrolytes, the solvent ( $H_2O$ ) also acts as a reactant and participates in the electrochemical process. Therefore, the electrolyte is often considered the most critical component in the battery system. Focused on the electrolytes applied in lithium-air batteries, developments and remaining challenges, covering the scope of non-aqueous, aqueous, and solid-state electrolytes, are summarized and discussed in this section.

#### 2.1. Non-aqueous electrolytes

An ideal non-aqueous electrolyte should have high ionic conductivity, good chemical and electrochemical stability, high boiling point (or low vapor pressure), and high oxygen solubility [45]. Meanwhile, to effectively transport oxygen, the high oxygen solubility and diffusivity are also required. Even with tremendous efforts, the stability issues of both solvent and lithium salt are still big challenges for non-aqueous electrolytes. In addition, functional additives in electrolytes, which may lead to a significant improvement in the battery performance, have drawn great interests in research.

## 2.1.1. Stability issues

In the early stage, carbonate-based liquid electrolyte solvents that are widely used in lithium-ion batteries, such as propylene carbonate (PC) and ethylene carbonate (EC), were applied in nonaqueous lithium-air batteries [58–65], but the cycling performance was surprisingly poor. Later studies showed that in carbonatedbased solvents, the discharge products are lithium carbonate and alkylcarbonate, rather than Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [66,67]. The main reason is that the reduction of O<sub>2</sub> involves the formation on superoxide (O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>), which is a strong reducing agent and causes the decomposition of carbonate-based solvents to form carbonate species [65]. Consequently, these products are responsible for the poor reversibility. More importantly, the cycle performance is associated with the decomposition of Solvents rather than the reversible formation and decomposition of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, resulting in a poor cycling life.

The failure of carbonate-based solvents leads to the search of other stable solvents. Ether-based solvents have been tried, mainly due to their relatively high stability with respect to superoxide radicals and oxidation potentials [68–72]. Among them, dimethoxyethane (DME) and tetraethylene glycol dimethyl ether (TEGDME) have been deeply studied. DME is seen as a good candidate for non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, in which Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is the dominant discharge product [73–77]. TEGDME has been considered as another choice, which is now widely used in the research of non-aqueous

lithium-air batteries, and improved cycling life has been achieved [78–85]. However, the decomposition of DME during discharge and the oxidization of DME at high potentials by  $Li_2O_2$  have also been reported [71,75]. Although TEGDME is relatively stable to superoxide attack [86], its instability at high potential (e.g., >4.3 V) is also an issue [87]. Another promising solvent is dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), which is shown to be relatively stable in the superoxide environment [88]. However, the instability of DMSO in lithium-air batteries has also been reported [89–92]. During the oxygen reduction on carbon electrodes, the solvent undergoes oxidation with reactive oxygen species [93] and lithium oxides to form side-products such as LiOH, dimethyl sulfone,  $Li_2SO_3$  and  $Li_2-SO_4$  [91]. In addition, the chemical reaction between DMSO and  $Li_2O_2$  could decompose DMSO to DMSO<sub>2</sub> and form LiOH [92]. These side products greatly affect the reversibility.

Room temperature ionic liquids (RTILs) have various advantages over conventional non-aqueous solvents, especially the wide electrochemical window, making them the promising stable candidates for non-aqueous lithium-air batteries [94–105]. For instance, Elia et al. reported that the RTIL-based electrolyte could enable a stable electrode-electrolyte interface and a highly reversible cycling behavior, leading to an enhanced round-trip efficiency of 82% [106]. Adams et al. synthesized a new lithium-ether-derived chelate ionic liquid, which is not only stable to metallic lithium but also much more inherently stable to superoxide-initiated hydrogen abstraction than DME [107]. Even with such striking features, the high viscosity of most RTILs [108] is a big issue, which leads to large transport resistance [109,110]. In addition, many RTILs have low lithium salt solubility and low conductivity [111], limiting the available discharge current density.

To search suitable solvents for non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, several other types of solvents have also been investigated, such as acetonitrile [12], N-methylpyrrolidone [112], methoxybenzene [113], amide-based [114,115], and sulfone-based [116–118]. In addition, reaction mechanisms in mixture solvents and their performance in the battery have also been studied [119–121]. To achieve a non-aqueous lithium-air battery with good reversibility and long cycle life, further investigations in identifying the decomposition mechanisms and searching new non-aqueous solvents are still challenges.

In addition to the solvent, the lithium salt also plays a significant role in the electrolyte system. An ideal lithium salt should not only have high solubility in the solvent to support ion transport but also be inert to the solvent and other battery components, especially to the oxygen reduction intermediates [46]. The salts that have been mostly employed in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries include LiPF<sub>6</sub>, LiClO<sub>4</sub>, LiCF<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>3</sub>, and lithium bis(trifluorome thanesulfonyl)imide (LiTFSI). Veith et al. investigated the influence of different lithium salts on the discharge chemistry in nonaqueous lithium-air batteries, and found that LiClO<sub>4</sub> appears to be the least reactive lithium salt [122]. Du et al. reported that in tri(ethylene glycol)-substituted trimethylsilane-based electrolyte, the decomposition of LiPF<sub>6</sub> triggers the decomposition of the solvent; while the same reactions are not observed when LiTFSI and LiCF<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>3</sub> are used as the lithium salts [123]. Thus, the stability of the electrolyte strongly depends on the compatibility of lithium salts with solvent. Kang et al. reported a new kind of electrolyte system, in which LiNO<sub>3</sub> was dissolved in DME [124]. The interaction between the ionic solvate and active sites of carbon during the discharge process resulted in the formation of Pyridinic structure, which caused the deactivation of the carbon electrode. Compared with traditional LiTFSI/DME, the application of LiNO<sub>3</sub> leads to complete elimination of CO<sub>2</sub> during the charge cycle. Using the same lithium salt in DMSO electrolyte, Sun et al. showed that the charge overpotential is lower than that using LiClO<sub>4</sub>/DMSO electrolyte, illustrating the striking feature of LiNO<sub>3</sub> [125].

Lepoivre et al. reported a design for an electrochemical test battery that integrates a pressure sensor to monitor the pressure changes during charge/discharge, quantifying the parasitic reactions in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries based on a carbon electrode [126]. They tested various electrolytes frequently encountered in the literature, such as LiTFSI in DME, diethylene glycol dimethyl ether (DEGDME) and TEGDME, LiNO3 in N,Ndimethylacetamide (DMA), and LiClO<sub>4</sub> in DMSO. The amount of parasitic reactions is deduced from the ratio between the experimental and theoretical gas evolution rates, based on the assumption that a rate of 2e<sup>-</sup>/mol of gas would only involve oxygen. The first discharge is closer to the theoretical value  $(2e^{-}/mol of gas)$ than the subsequent ones, suggesting a progressive chemical deviation from the expected reaction with cycling. In contrast, the first charge always comes with gas emissions lower than expected, indicating irreversible transformations. When reached the steady-state, 2 M LiNO<sub>3</sub> in DMA appears as the most efficient electrolyte among those investigated. The stability of the lithium salt and the subsequent effect on the stability of the electrolyte should therefore raise great attention. Further studies should combine both the solvent and the lithium salt as a whole electrolyte system, and investigate the influence on the electrochemical behaviors.

## 2.1.2. Functional additives

Due to the significant role of electrolyte in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, selecting the optimum electrolyte is an essential prerequisite for the successful operation of batteries. Functional additives in electrolytes, which aim to improve the performance, have drawn great interests. It is worth noting that the functions of some kinds of additives seem to be "catalyst". Due to their soluble properties and low concentrations in the electrolytes, here we focus on these additives while the solid catalysts will be discussed in the air electrode part. The instability of electrolytes is mainly caused by the inevitable generation of superoxide  $(O_2^-)$  during the ORR process. To address this issue, Kim et al. reported a method by adding polydopamine in the ether-based electrolyte as a radical scavenger with the inspiration from the human eye, as schemed in Fig. 2a [127]. Both the batteries with and without polydopamine showed almost the same discharge voltage, but the battery with polydopamine exhibited markedly lower charge voltage due to the generation of more reversible Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> with the lower equilibrium potential as a dominant product during the discharge process. As the side reactions were alleviated by this radical scavenging, the battery could fully retain the capacity of 600 mA h g<sub>carbon</sub> over 100 cycles.

Since the ORR process in non-aqueous electrolytes accompanied by the formation of solid  $Li_2O_2$ , traditional catalysts on the electrode surface would be gradually covered by the product. To accelerate the ORR process and improve the discharge performance, diffusive catalysts that can be repeatedly adsorbed on the growing front of  $Li_2O_2$  are needed. Matsuda et al. investigated the effect of the addition of quinone derivatives in non-aqueous electrolytes for ORR on carbon materials and demonstrated that the  $Li_2O_2$  formation could proceed efficiently [128]. As schemed in Fig. 2b,  $Q_{sem}$  species generally catalyze the reduction of molecular oxygen to superoxide anion radicals as:

$$Q_{sem} + O_2 \rightarrow Q_{ox} + O_2^- \tag{10}$$

where  $Q_{\text{sem}}$  and  $Q_{\text{ox}}$  denote the semiquinone and oxidized form of quinone. In the presence of Li<sup>+</sup>, the  $Q_{\text{sem}}$ Li is formed by a lithium-coupled one electron reduction reaction on the electrode, and then molecular oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) is converted to superoxide anion radicals (O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) mediated by the  $Q_{\text{sem}}$ Li as:

$$Q_{sem}Li + O_2 \rightarrow Q_{ox} + O_2^- + Li^+$$
(11)



**Fig. 2.** Schematic illustrations of functional additives in non-aqueous electrolytes: (a) Polydopamine as a superoxide radical scavenger [127]; (b) quinone derivatives facilitate Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation [128]; (c) a self-defense redox mediator [133]; (d) TPFPB on the oxidation of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to O<sub>2</sub> during charge [134]; and (e) H<sub>2</sub>O in the charge process [139].

The formed superoxide anion radicals on the cathode surface further react with  $Li^+$ , resulting in continuous  $Li_2O_2$  deposition. They also showed benzoquinone achieved an overpotential for the  $Li_2O_2$  formation of less than 100 mV, exhibiting the best catalytic performance [128].

The large voltage polarization on charging is a significant problem in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, due to the difficulty in transporting charge between solid  $\text{Li}_2\text{O}_2$  and the solid electrode surface. To address this issue, a redox mediator (RM) may be helpful to facilitate the charge process: on charging, RM is oxidized to RM<sup>+</sup> at the air electrode surface as

$$\mathrm{RM} \to \mathrm{RM}^+ + \mathrm{e}^- \tag{12}$$

which in turn oxidizes the solid  $Li_2O_2$  and results in the regeneration of RM:

$$Li_2O_2 + 2RM^+ \rightarrow 2Li^+ + O_2 + 2RM$$
 (13)

Consequently, the RM acts as an electron-hole transfer agent that permits efficient oxidation of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, resulting in the low charge potential and long cycle life. For example, Bruce et al. introduced tetrathiafulvalene (TTF) into the DMSO electrolyte, which successfully lower the charge voltage [129]. Kang et al. reported lithium iodine (LiI) in TEGDME which enables the battery to achieve a high reversible capacity up to 900 cycles at the fixed capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  with a charge voltage less than 3.5 V [130]. Goodenough et al. reported iron phthalocyanine (FePc), which acts not only as a redox mediator, but also a molecular shuttle of  $O_2^-$  species between the surface of the electronic conductor and the insulator Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [131]. Bergner et al. reported another kind of redox mediator, 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidinyloxyl (TEMPO). By using the addition of 10 mM TEMPO in the electrolyte, the charging potentials had a distinct reduction of 500 mV, and the cycle life of the battery was doubled from 25 to 50 cycles at the fixed capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  [132]. Even with the improved charge performance, at the same time, undesirable reactions accompanied by the RMs were also noticed, especially the parasitic shuttle to lithium anode, resulting in a poor cycle life [132,133]. To address this issue, Zhang et al. proposed a self-defense redox mediator indium triiodide (InI<sub>3</sub>), as schemed in Fig. 2c [133]. It can form a pre-deposited indium layer to resist the synchronous attack by the soluble  $I_{3}^{-}$ , and hence suppress the shuttle effect. The InI<sub>3</sub>-containing Li-O<sub>2</sub> battery gives ~80% round-trip efficiency and remains quite stable in a considerably prolonged cycling.

Since the formation of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> leads to a series issues, a natural thought is to dissolve the solid product. Tris(pentafluorophenyl) borane (TPFPB), as an additive in electrolytes to increase the solubility of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, was evaluated by Choi et al. [134] and Zheng et al. [135]. The partially dissolve of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was observed by adding TPFPB in the electrolyte. Moreover, the effectively electrochemical oxidation of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to lithium and oxygen was confirmed. However, due to the electrochemical decomposition of TPFPB, the surface layer of the Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> composed of LiF, which limited the application of this additive, as shown in Fig. 2d [134]. Very recently, Peng et al. reported a hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA) electrolyte that can dissolve Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> up to  $0.35 \times 10^{-3}$  M. Compared to the pristine ether-based batteries, the capacity, rate capability, and voltage efficiency are greatly improved [136].

Although water in electrolytes has been found to affect the morphologies of discharge products and increase the discharge capacity [137], it leads to the formation of LiOH, which was thought to be irreversible and causes a short cycling life [138]. Li et al. found that the decomposition of LiOH is strongly related to the applied catalysts, such as Ru nanoparticles supported on Super P [139]. They showed that using a trace amount of water in electrolytes

and electrolytic manganese oxide  $(MnO_2)$  can favor the transformation of the discharge product from Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to LiOH, as schemed in Fig. 2e, resulting in a greatly reduced the charge overpotential. The application of water in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries has also been reported by Liu et al. [140], in which combined a reduced graphene oxide electrode, the additive LiI, and the solvent DME to reversibly form and remove crystalline LiOH during discharge and charge, leading to high specific capacities, excellent round-trip efficiency (93.2%) with a voltage gap of only 0.2 V. It is noting that as lithium metal is very sensitive to even a trace amount of moisture, the effect of water on the battery behavior requires further investigations.

## 2.2. Solid-state electrolytes

An ideal solid-state electrolyte should have a high lithium ion conductivity, a very low diffusion coefficient for the other species (e.g., O<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O), a high stability in the aqueous/non-aqueous electrolytes, and a high resistance towards the direction reaction with lithium metal. With the rapid development of lithium-ion batteries, a number of solid-state lithium ion conducting materials have been introduced [35]. Here we mainly focus on the solid-state electrolytes that have been applied in lithium-air batteries.

#### 2.2.1. NASICON-type oxides

Among NASICON-type oxides, glass ceramic LATP and LAGP have been widely studied in lithium-air batteries [141]. A typical LATP plate has a thickness of 260 µm and an ionic conductivity of  $3.5 \times 10^{-4}$  S cm<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C [39]. Although LATP could provide a high lithium ion conductivity and neglected H<sup>+</sup> conductivity [142], it is unstable in direct contact with lithium metal. Thus, a buffer layer must be applied between the lithium metal and LATP plate, as schemed in Fig. 3a [143]. Consequently, the buffer layer also acts as a kind of electrolyte and thus should have high lithium ion conductivity and meanwhile be stable in contact with lithium metal. This buffer layer can be made by sputtering a thin layer of solid lithium phosphorous nitride (LiPON) on LATP [25,144]. Besides, poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO)<sub>18</sub>LiTFSI was also applied as the buffer layer [143,145], which served as an effective protective interlayer to suppress the reaction between LATP and lithium metal. To further reduce the interfacial resistance between the lithium anode and the buffer layer, a nanosized BaTiO<sub>3</sub> ceramic filler was added to the polymer, and successfully decreased the interfacial resistance between the PEO<sub>18</sub>LiTFSI and lithium from 240 to 125  $\Omega$  cm<sup>2</sup> by the addition of 10 wt% nanosized BaTiO<sub>3</sub> [20,24].

Due to the introduction of a buffer layer on LATP, the total lithium ion conductivity will inevitably decrease, leading to a large resistance for a practical lithium-air battery and resulting in low capacity and round-trip efficiency. LAGP, another kind of NASICON-type oxides [146–151], which has favorable chemical stability against lithium metal and the wide electrochemical window [152], has drawn great attention as the solid-state separator, as schemed in Fig. 3b [153]. The lithium ion conductivity of LAGP can be over  $10^{-4}$  S cm<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C. However, the large interfacial resistance between the lithium metal and the LAGP plate is still a big issue that should be carefully addressed [154].

#### 2.2.2. Single-crystal silicon membranes

Besides NASICON-type oxides, single-crystalline silicon membranes have been investigated as the solid-state lithium ion conducting material in a lithium-air battery [155]. Results showed that single-crystalline silicon membranes with thicknesses ranging from 2 to 20  $\mu$ m demonstrate a lithium ion conductivity of  $10^{-6}$  S cm<sup>-1</sup>, while the diffusion coefficient of oxygen at room temperature is extremely low (i.e.,  $4 \times 10^{-44}$  cm<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). Hence, the silicon membrane can effectively protect the lithium anode from



Fig. 3. Schematic of a solid-state lithium-air battery with (a) LATP  $\left[143\right]$  and (b) LAGP  $\left[153\right]$ .

the crossover of oxygen molecules and meanwhile transport lithium ions to support a reasonable current density during charge and discharge. It is worth noting that in the reported experiments, carbonate-based electrolytes were used so that the resistance increase was attributable to the formation of additional solidelectrolyte interface (SEI) layers from the reactions between the electrolyte and the silicon membrane and decomposition of the electrolyte under an oxygen atmosphere. Consequently, in stable non-aqueous electrolytes or aqueous electrolytes, the performance of such silicon membrane should be re-evaluated. In addition, the lithium ion conductivity of silicon is still low, which leads to a low obtainable power output. Hence, to modify the silicon membrane (e.g., doping) with a high conductivity is crucial for practical applications.

#### 2.2.3. Polymer electrolytes

In addition to the solid glass ceramic and the silicon membrane, polymer electrolytes, with their special property of nontoxic, low-vapor-pressure, and non-flammable properties have attracted increasing interests [156–158]. Based on the applied materials, polymer electrolyte can be divided into three types [156]: (i) gel polymer, which is made of polymer network with liquid electrolytes; (ii) solid polymer, where the polymer host together with a lithium salt act as a solid solvent; and (iii) composite polymer,

which is developed by the integration of ceramic fillers into the organic polymer host.

Zhang et al. synthesized a hydrophobic ionic liquid-silicapolyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF)-hexafluoro propylene polymer composite electrolyte and employed it in a lithium-air battery [159]. When the battery was tested in ambient atmosphere, the compact structure and stable interface resistance were in favor of long-time durability. Lu et al. prepared a novel polymer electrolyte based on poly(carbonate-ether) and LiBF<sub>4</sub> [160]. The electrolyte with  $\sim 17\%$  of LiBF<sub>4</sub> showed the ionic conductivity of  $1.57 \times 10^{-3}$  -S cm<sup>-1</sup>. A lithium-air battery with this polymer electrolyte showed similar cycling stability to the traditional liquid electrolyte, demonstrating a new choice for fabrication of all-solid-state lithium-air batteries. Elia and Hassoun developed a gel polymer membrane by employing PVDF as polymer matrix, LiTFSI to allow increased porosity and ensure an efficient swelling process and ZrO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles to improve the mechanical proprieties of the membrane [161] The obtained film has a suitable conductivity of 0.4 mS cm<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C, and also can mitigate oxygen crossover from the cathode to the anode side and avoid excessive increase of the interphase resistance. However, some polymer matrices (e.g., PVDF) are susceptible to a nucleophilic attack of the superoxide radical, leading to decomposition of the polymer electrolyte and poor cycling performance. To this end, Wu et al. developed lithiated perfluorinated sulfonic single-ionic conducting ionomers swollen with non-aqueous solvents and used as both the electrolyte and separator [162]. A polymer battery could be operated stably for 55 cycles under a fixed capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  and a high theoretical energy density of 3900 W h kg<sup>-1</sup>.

Generally, inorganic solid electrolytes (e.g., NASICON-type oxides) own high ionic conductivity and non-flammability, but display brittleness and high interface resistance to air electrodes; while gel/solid polymer electrolytes show high flexibility and low fabrication costs. To overcome the above disadvantages, a composite gel polymer electrolyte was made from ethoxylated trimethylolpropane triacrvlate. 2-hvdroxv-2-methyl-1-phenyl-1propanon, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles, associated with 1 M LiCF<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>3</sub> in TEGDME [163]. Benefitted from its high ionic conductivity and low activation energy, the terminal voltage of a battery is higher than 2.2 V after 140 cycles at 0.4 mA cm<sup>-2</sup> with a capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{composite}^{-1}$ . Moreover, a composite solid polymer electrolyte combining poly(methyl methacrylate-styrene) with amorphous LiNbO<sub>3</sub> has been designed by Zhou et al. [164], as shown in Fig. 4a. Attributed to the incorporation of high ionic conductive amorphous LiNbO<sub>3</sub> powder, the ionic conductivity ranges from 0.26 to 0.59 mS cm<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 4b), confirming the low crystallinity degree of the swelled membrane and attractive ionic conductivity of the composite electrolyte. With this electrolyte, a solid-state lithium-oxygen battery delivered an improved cycling life of more than 100 cycles and safety.

In comparison with glass-ceramics, the advantages of polymer composite as the solid-state electrolytes include the high lithium ion conductivity, more contact interfaces since the good flexibilities, and easy fabrication. With the increasing research interests in flexible power sources for the next-generation wearable electronic devices [165,166], further investigations on polymer composites are in great need.

## 2.3. Aqueous electrolytes

The oxygen electrochemical mechanism of aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries is similar to that of zinc-air batteries with the formation of soluble LiOH, eliminating the blockage of the porous air electrode by the discharge product in non-aqueous and solidstate lithium-air. However, two issues in aqueous electrolytes



Fig. 4. (a) Photo image of a composite solid polymer electrolyte membrane; (b) arrhenius plots of the ionic conductivity versus temperature [164].

require great attention, including the energy density and the stability towards the solid-state electrolyte membrane.

#### 2.3.1. Limited energy density

In non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, electrolytes are used to transport lithium ions and oxygen to the reaction sites. Since oxygen could be obtained from ambient air, the practical capacity and energy density depend on the utilization of the lithium anode or the porous air electrode. However, in aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries, the aqueous solvent, H<sub>2</sub>O, also participates in the reaction as a reactant, as expressed in Reaction 6. The addition amount of electrolytes can inevitably decrease the specific energy density of the battery. Moreover, when the Li<sup>+</sup> and OH<sup>-</sup> concentrations reach the solubility value (12.5 g of LiOH/100 g of H<sub>2</sub>O), LiOH will precipitate, filling the void space in the porous air electrode, as the situation in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries. To prevent this deposition, a large amount of water is required, which results in the further decrease in the theoretical energy density to only about  $477 \text{ W h kg}^{-1}$  [32]. Therefore, to increase the energy density of aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries, other aqueous electrolytes rather than water should be applied.

The theoretical specific capacities and energy densities of different aqueous solutions are listed in Table 1 [32]. Different electrolytes could result in various energy densities, and the highest energy density could be achieved by using strong acid solutions such as HCl and HClO<sub>3</sub>, due to the high solubility of discharge products. However, some other problems will be introduced when using these electrolytes, such as the instability towards the solidstate electrolytes and the air electrodes. Besides, with the increased amount of lithium salt in the electrolyte, the oxygen solubility and transfer coefficient decrease, along with the operating voltage [30,167], which may reduce the practical energy density. Consequently, when applying aqueous electrolytes with high energy densities, these above-mentioned issues need to be considered.

#### Table 1

Summary of specific capacities and energy densities for lithium-air batteries with some aqueous electrolytes. (Data from Ref. [32].)

Aqueous solution	Minimum amount H <sub>2</sub> O for 1 mol of product (mol)	Specific capacity (mA h g <sup>-1</sup> )	Energy density at OCV = $3.69 V$ (W h kg <sup>-1</sup> )
LiOH	11.14	129.19	476.70
CH₃COOH	8.15	130.97	483.28
HClO <sub>3</sub>	1.09	262.51	968.68
HClO <sub>4</sub>	10.07	95.83	353.63
HCOOH	7.35	152.10	561.24
HNO <sub>3</sub>	3.76	208.49	769.33
$H_2SO_4$	17.86	72.73	268.37
HBr	2.67	211.31	779.74
HCl	2.79	316.88	1169.29

2.3.2. Stability towards lithium ion conducting ceramics

To date, LATP and LAGP are most applied solid-state membranes in aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries. The stability of LATP in different aqueous electrolytes was tested by Imanishi et al. [21–23,168,169]. They found that LATP is stable in aqueous LiNO<sub>3</sub> and LiCl, but unstable in aqueous 0.1 M HCl and 1.0 M LiOH [39]. In addition, lithium ion-saturated solutions could increase the stability of LATP in aqueous electrolytes, such as CH<sub>3</sub>COOLi saturated CH<sub>3</sub>COOH-H<sub>2</sub>O solution [21,23] and LiCl saturated LiOH solution [169]. The stability of LAGP in various acid and alkaline aqueous electrolytes was tested by He et al. [170]. LAGP would decompose into impurity phase Li<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> after being immersed in LiOH alkaline aqueous solution. However, it has excellent stability in saturated LiCl-CH<sub>3</sub>COOH-H<sub>2</sub>O and LiCl-LiOH-H<sub>2</sub>O solutions. These findings gave some candidate aqueous electrolytes for long-term operation of lithium-air batteries.

Since high-concentration and a strong acid (e.g., HCl) could improve the theoretical energy density, to solve the instability of NASICON-type glass ceramic, one useful method is to utilize the buffer additive in the electrolyte. For example, phosphoric acid is a moderately strong acid and could corrode the LATP membrane. However, applying a phosphate buffer solution consisting of a mixture of 0.1 M phosphoric acid and 1 M LiH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> with a net pH value of 3.14 at room temperature can avoid the corrosion of the LATP membrane [171]. Li et al. presented an approach by adding an equivalent amount of imidazole to the acid solution to store protons in the imidazole-acid complex [172]. Experimental results showed that with the addition of 6.06 M of imidazole to 6 M HCl, the solution had a mild pH of ~5.0, and thus alleviate the corrosion of the solid-state electrolyte and facilitate the battery with a high capacity of 136 mA h  $g_{cathode}^{-1}$ .

## 2.4. Summary of challenges in electrolytes

For non-aqueous electrolytes, the main challenge is the stability in the oxidation environment, which is the key for reasonable cycling life. To achieve this target, both solvents and lithium salts should be taken into account, and functional additives aimed at stabilizing the electrolyte should be developed. In addition to stability, high transport properties, such as the oxygen solubility and diffusivity, are important for the battery performance. Recently, it is reported that the choice of salt species and concentration have an outsized influence on oxygen solubility, while solvent choice has the major influence on oxygen diffusivity. The stability of superoxide reaction intermediates is also affected by variations in salt concentration and the choice of solvent [173]. Hence, these values are also crucial criteria for the selection of suitable electrolytes. For solid-state electrolytes, a high lithium ion conductivity is essential for reasonable capacity and power output. At the current stage, LATP is the most widely used ceramic-based electrolyte, due to its relatively high conductivity and good protection for the lithium electrode. However, its low stability towards the electrolyte and lithium metal needs to be addressed. Polymerbased composites demonstrate comparable lithium ion conductivities to those of non-aqueous electrolytes and show promising applications in flexible batteries, but the long-term stability should draw more concerns. For aqueous electrolytes, owing to their participation in electrochemical reactions, the energy density is an underestimated issue that should be paid great attention when building a battery with a high capacity. Moreover, the stability towards the solid-state electrolyte membranes is crucial for the performance and the safety, and thus a careful assessment is needed.

#### 3. Air electrodes

Since both ORR and OER occur in the air electrode, it poses major technology challenges for lithium-air batteries. The ultimate goal is to achieve high capacity and power density, high round-trip efficiency, and a long cycling life. Reaching that goal depends on the material and the microstructure. To obtain a high capacity, the reaction pathways among oxygen, lithium ions, and electrons in the air electrode should be kept as long as possible. Consequently, the structure of air cathodes in different types of lithium-air batteries need be designed and optimized accordingly. In addition to improving the transport kinetics, catalysts should be introduced into air electrodes to facilitate electrochemical reactions during discharge and charge. Since air electrodes may be corroded to form unresolvable by-products which can lead to a decrease of cycle life, the stability needs to be further improved. Moreover, to enable the operation in ambient air, solving the contaminations of carbon dioxide and water and suppressing the evaporation of liquid electrolytes are challenging.

## 3.1. Structure design

Generally, a large reaction area associated with good electric conductivity is preferred for an air electrode, and a porous structure is required for oxygen transport. In non-aqueous and solidstate lithium-air batteries, the discharge product,  $Li_2O_2$ , is in the solid phase. Consequently, the solid  $Li_2O_2$  that is stored in the porous cathode can affect the transport of oxygen, lithium ions, and electrons, and thus decide the battery capacity. Even in aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries where the discharge product can be dissolved in aqueous electrolytes, the transport of oxygen and lithium ions can also be affected by the porous cathode. Therefore, the structure is a big issue for porous cathodes.

# 3.1.1. Enlargement of reaction boundaries in solid-state lithium-air batteries

In non-aqueous, aqueous, and hybrid lithium-air batteries, cathodes are partly or fully saturated by the liquid electrolytes. Oxygen and lithium ions are transported in the electrolytes and react with electrols transported in the air electrode at the interface of liquid electrolyte/solid electrode. In solid-state lithium-air batteries, due to the absence of liquid electrolytes, lithium ions are transported only through the solid electrolyte. Hence, reactions can occur only at the boundaries among the solid electrolyte (for Li<sup>+</sup> transport), the electrode (for electron transport) and gaseous oxygen [43].

To address the small amount of reaction boundaries, integrating the air electrode and the solid-state electrolyte together to form lithium ion conducting networks is a useful approach, as proposed in Fig. 5a [174]. In this structure, not only the pathways of lithium ions in the cathode could be increased, but also the interfacial impedance could be greatly reduced. Following this line, Kitaura and Zhou integrated an air electrode and a solid-state electrolyte membrane through adding the solid-state electrolyte particles into the carbon nanotubes to produce three continuous path structures for electrons, lithium ions, and oxygen, respectively, leading to an improved discharge capacity of 1700 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  [153]. Zhu et al. proposed and fabricated a novel solid-state battery with an integrated electrolyte and cathode structure, as shown in Fig. 5b [175]. This design allows a thin electrolyte layer of about 36 µm and a highly porous cathode with a porosity of 78%, both of which were prepared using the same LATP material, eliminating the interfacial resistance. In addition, carbon nanoparticles are uniformly coated onto the cathode surface and serve as both an electron conductor and a catalyst for the electrochemical reaction. As a result, the battery outputs a discharge capacity as high as 14,200 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  at 0.15 mA cm  $^{-2}$  , and can sustain 100 cycles at a fixed capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$ . For the polymer solidstate electrolyte, Bonnet-Mercier et al. presented a new design for a three-dimensional (3-D) solid polymer electrolyte (SPE) structure by incorporating the carbon nanotube (CNT) cathode, as schemed in Fig. 5c [176]. The void spaces in the porous CNT/SPE film allowed an increased depth of diffusion of O<sub>2</sub> gas, providing an enlarged active reaction sites where lithium ions, oxygen, and electrons can interact. Consequently, the 3-D CNT/SPE cathode enhanced the capacity of the SPE-based lithium-air battery to 300–500 mA h  $g_{CNT}^{-1}$ , higher than that of a conventional cathode with the capacity of 125 mA h  $g_{CNT}^{-1}$ .

## 3.1.2. Design of proper structures in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries

To obtain more reaction sites in the air electrode, materials with the high specific surface area are desirable. Among them, carbon materials with various microstructures (e.g., carbon powder, ordered mesoporous carbons, carbon nanotubes/fibers, graphene) have attracted great attention and been widely applied in lithium-air batteries [177]. Due to the formation of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, the reaction places will be covered by the product, and the void volumes will be occupied. The solid product continuously grows on the pore-solid surfaces with an increase in the discharge capacity [178], and ultimately clogs the pores and blocks the oxygen transport pathway. Meanwhile, due to the low lithium ion conductivity [77] and electric conductivity [18] of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, the lithium ion and electron transport can also become resistant to the growth of the discharge product. To obtain a capacity close to the theoretical value during the discharge process, the transport pathways of oxygen, lithium ions, and electrons should be kept as long as possible. Therefore, a profound understanding of the relationship between the capacity and the cathode structure in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries is important.

In the early stage of non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, the relationship between the capacity and the cathode geometrical properties had already been investigated [179-181]. However, all the results were obtained from the battery with carbonate-based electrolytes, which resulted in the formation of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> or other byproducts rather than Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Based on the relatively stable solvents (e.g., DME, TEGDME), the correlations between the discharge capacity and the cathode structure have been further studied. Meini et al. found a strong correlation between the specific discharge capacity and the cathode specific surface [182]. On the contrary, Chervin et al. showed that the macroporous nanofoams (50-200 nm) yield the specific capacity approximately twice that of the mesoporous nanofoams (5–50 nm), even though the macroporous foams have lower specific surface areas [183]. Ding et al. found that the discharge capacity was hardly affected by the surface area or pore volume, but directly correlated with the pore size [177]. Tan et al. proposed and fabricated a composite cathode made of carbon powder and nanotubes [184], and found that the composite cathode could achieve a larger capacity than that of the cathode made



**Fig. 5.** Approaches to increase reaction boundaries in solid-state lithium-air batteries: (a) Schematic of the continuous lithium ion conduction path and porous carbon coated on the surface [174]; (b) scanning electron microscope (SEM) images of one pore in the porous LATP electrode before (b1) and after (b2) carbon loading [175]; (c) enlarged active reaction zone in 3-D CNT/SPE architecture [176].

of pure carbon powder, even though the specific surface area decreased, which may be mainly attributed to the improved oxygen transport as the result of enlarged pore spaces.

In addition to the pore size and volume of the cathode, the pore size distribution along the thickness of the cathode also has a significant role in the battery performance. In the initial discharge period, the oxidation reaction is predominately controlled by the transport of oxygen. Due to the slow transport rate of oxygen [185], the oxygen concentration in the porous cathode decreases from the air side to the separator side during discharge. Higher oxygen concentration will result in a higher reaction rate. Hence, the fraction of the solid product will be larger at the air side, decreasing toward the separator side, as illustrated by both experimental observations [183,186] and modeling results [187-192]. In a porous cathode with uniform pore size distribution, the solid product will be in the scenario as illustrated in Fig. 6a. Such a distribution of the solid product means that although the remaining pores toward the separator side are still open, the pores at the air side will be blocked first with an increase in the discharge capacity, terminating the discharge process and resulting in a low discharge capacity. Consequently, a thick cathode usually leads to a low specific capacity, due to the low utilization of the reaction sites and void volume [192]. The above-mentioned issue can be addressed by forming a porous cathode with a gradient distribution in pore size, as illustrated in Fig. 6b. The implementation of such a gradient will enable a more uniform oxygen transport pathway along the electrode thickness, and thus increase the discharge capacity [193].

It is worth noting that the morphology of solid  $Li_2O_2$  can significantly affect the discharge capacity [177]. Apart from the film-like  $Li_2O_2$  [177], the product morphology could also be toroid-like [183,193], disc-like [194], particle-like [64], and other irregular shapes [78,195]. For a same structured pore, the particle-like morphology will indeed lead to a higher capacity than that of the film-like one due to the improved void volume utilization. Bruce et al. showed that the solvent property, donor number (DN), influences



Fig. 6. Schematic of the discharge process in the pore of a (a) uniform and (b) gradient porous cathode.

 $O_2$  reduction through its effect on the solubility of LiO<sub>2</sub> [196]. Large Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> particles are observed in high-DN solvents at high potentials, while the Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> film is observed at low potentials and in low-DN solvents at all potentials. Hence, the optimization of the porous cathode structure for low- and high-DN solvents will be different. Besides solvents, Sharon et al. showed that the level of dissociation of the salt also plays an important role in Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> morphology [197]. In addition to electrolytes, the product morphology is also affected by the operation conditions [198–202]. Therefore, to maximize the discharge capacity, detailed investigations on the correlations between the cathode microstructures and the synergy transport are required.

#### 3.1.3. Enhancement of species transport in liquid electrolytes

In conventional non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, the air electrode is fully saturated by the electrolyte, as schemed in Fig. 7a. Oxygen dissolves into the electrolyte at the oxygen/electrolyte interface and is then transported to the reaction sites. Due to the limited transport rate of oxygen in the electrolyte [203], the oxygen concentration decreases substantially from the air side to the separator side. The insufficient supply of oxygen near the separator side limits the chemical reaction, leading to a lower power density output. Hence, a critical issue is to optimize the distribution of electrolyte inside cathode pores that can facilitate the transport of species [204]. A possible remedy is to replace the fully-saturated cathode into a partially wetted one, as illustrated in Fig. 7b. Oxygen can reach the inner region, and the electrolyte



**Fig. 7.** Schematic of a non-aqueous lithium-air battery with the air electrode: (a) fully-saturated; (b) partially-wetted; and (c) fully-wetted and partially-saturated [205].

can be pushed away from the separator with an increase in the solid discharge product. With the optimum quantity of electrolyte, such a structure can help adapt the electrolyte distribution while  $Li_2O_2$  is produced. However, this method does not offer a complete solution because the dry areas are unused during discharge due to the lack of lithium ions. Hence, a more desirable distribution of electrolyte inside cathode pores should be aimed at creating a uniform concentration distribution of both oxygen and lithium ions on the entire cathode surface, as schemed in Fig. 7c. Gaseous oxygen can rapidly penetrate the entire pore and can be quickly transported to the reaction sites through the thick-reduced electrolyte, and lithium ions are present on the surface. Consequently, the enhanced transport of species leads to the improved battery performance.

Following this strategy, Xia et al. fabricated a partially wetted carbon cathode by evaporating of diethyl ether from the organic electrolyte, and obtained a discharge capacity 60% higher than that of a conventional fully-saturated cathode [206]. Kim and Park modified the surface of carbon by a polydopamine coating to enhance its wettability and achieved an increased capacity [207]. Zhang and Zhou designed a cathode made of the cross-linked single-walled carbon nanotubes and a gel electrolyte [99,208], which allows the passage of oxygen through the indispensable oxygen diffusion channels arising from the numerous small chinks and pores. As a result, the conventional electrochemical interface could be expanded into 3-D networks. Balaish et al. designed two interpenetrating network channels in the cathode: one network consists of channels filled with O2-transporting perfluorinated carbon liquids (PFCs) for fast oxygen transport and the other is filled with a Li<sup>+</sup>-conducting electrolyte for Li<sup>+</sup> transport, increasing the discharge capacity [209].

In aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries, aqueous electrolytes also play as reactants in the electrochemical reactions. Hence, a large amount of aqueous electrolytes may be required for a high discharge capacity. Chen et al. designed a lithium-air flow battery system, which contained an electrochemical reaction unit and a combined electrolyte storage/oxygen exchange unit [210]. Different from other lithium-air flow battery systems which just renew the electrolyte [27,32], the fresh electrolyte which saturated with oxygen is pumped into the reaction unit, while the used electrolyte is sent to the oxygen exchange unit to be refreshed. As a result, the cathode does not open directly to the atmosphere to receive the oxygen but circulates the electrolyte continuously between the reaction unit and electrolyte storage unit, and thus the oxygen concentration and transport rate could be greatly improved. Using this system, a power density as high as 7.64 mW cm<sup>-2</sup> at a constant discharge current density of  $4.0 \text{ mA cm}^{-2}$  was achieved. The merit of this flow system is not only limited to aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries, but also may be applied in the non-aqueous lithium-air batteries to further increase the oxygen transport [211].

# 3.2. Reaction kinetics

Accelerating the reaction kinetics and lowering the overpotential are essential for the need of round-trip efficiency in lithiumair batteries. In aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries, due to their high similarities in reaction mechanisms (Reaction 6) of alkaline fuel cells and metal-air batteries (e.g., Zn-air battery), various catalyst materials for ORR and OER in aqueous solutions have been tried [212–214]. To develop rechargeable batteries, bifunctional catalysts, which have the abilities to catalyze both ORR and OER in aqueous media, have also been developed [215], and the "decoupled" bifunctional air electrode which separates the ORR and OER catalysts into two independent electrodes has also been proposed [212,216]. In this section, we mainly focus on the catalysts applied in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries based on relatively stable electrolytes (e.g., TEGDME, DME, DMSO) [217]. Different types of catalysts are first briefly reviewed, and then the catalytic mechanisms in the discharge and charge processes are discussed. Although element-doped [218–222] and surface-modified [223] carbon materials have also been used as catalysts, here the "catalyst" only refers to the material associated with carbon supporters. The stability issues of carbon materials and carbon-free cathodes will be introduced in the following section.

#### 3.2.1. Types of catalysts

Various metal materials, such as Pt [224], Au [225], Pd [226], and Co [227], have been applied as catalysts with some new designs. Huang et al. encapsulated a series of noble metal nanoparticles (Pd. Pt. Ru, and Au) inside end-opened carbon nanotubes [228]. These cathode materials exhibited a dramatic reduction of charge overpotentials compared to their counterparts with nanoparticles supported on CNT surface. This is attributed to the strengthened electron density on CNT surfaces due to the encapsulation of noble metal. In addition to single-kind metal catalysts, the performance of bimetallic metal catalysts has also been evaluated. Li et al. reported the performance of Au-Pt core-shell nanoparticle chains, which showed excellent catalytic activity with a voltage of 2.82 V in discharge and 3.77 V in charge at the current density of 50 mA  $g_{\text{loading}}^{-1}$  with a fixed capacity of 1000 mA  $g_{\text{loading}}^{-1}$  [229]. Choi et al. designed PdCu bimetallic nanoparticles as efficient catalysts, which exhibited a low OER potential of 3.4 V and demonstrated a reversible cycle life up to 50 cycles and outstanding rate capability even at a high current density of 5000 mA  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  [230].

Besides metallic catalysts, a variety of metal oxides have also been investigated. For instance, Oloniyo et al. studied the catalytic activities of different crystallographic phases of MnO<sub>2</sub>, including  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -,  $\gamma$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> nanowires,  $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> nanospheres, and  $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> nanowires on carbon, and found that  $\beta$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> sustained the least capacity loss and  $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> supported on carbon provided the highest capacity [231]. Su et al. synthesized single crystalline Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanocrystals with different crystal planes, and found that the essential factor to promote the OER is the surface crystal planes, and the correlation between different Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> crystal planes and their effect on reducing charge-discharge overpotential was {1 0 0} < {1 1 0} < {1 1 2} < {1 1 1} [232]. Oh et al. reported a novel metallic mesoporous pyrochlore catalyst, which showed promising catalytic activity and resulted in a cathode with a high reversible capacity of ~1000 mA h g<sup>-</sup><sub>cathode</sub> [233].

In addition to using metal or metal oxide alone, metals associated with metal oxides have also been applied. Oh et al. engineered bio  $Co_3O_4/Co(OH)_x$  nanowires with thermal treatments and incorporation of Ni nanoparticles, leading the round trip efficiency and the cycle life to improve from 68.5% to 75.1% and from 27 to 48 cycles, respectively [234]. In another research, they introduced Au nanoparticles onto the surface of pyrochlore, and found that the ORR performance was significantly improved [79]. Liu et al. prepared  $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> nanotubes decorated with Pt nanoparticles [235]. Due to the high surface area, highly dispersed and uniform Pt deposition, a battery with 5 wt% composite catalyst showed the highest catalytic activity and lowest charge overpotential of 1.07 V. Qu et al. synthesized a wheat-like Ag-Mn<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanocomposite, which led to a large discharge capacity of 4835 mA h  $g_{cathode}^{-1}$  and significantly reduced the average charge voltage to  $\sim$ 3.5 V [236].

Recently, other types of catalysts have also been utilized. For example, Shui et al. reported a dispersed Fe/N/C composite catalyst that has high selectively in promoting the decomposition of  $Li_2O_2$  [237]. Park et al. synthesized bimodal mesoporous TiN/C microfibers which formed a catalyst-membrane architecture for the accommodation of a large amount of  $Li_2O_2$  (19,100 ± 500 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$ )

and for the efficient mass transfer of the electrolyte and oxygen [238]. Li et al. synthesized novel composites of Fe/Fe<sub>3</sub>C carbon nanofibers (Fe/Fe<sub>3</sub>C-CNFs), which exhibited a capacity of 6250 mA h  $g_{loading}^{-1}$  and better reversibility than those of pure carbon [239]. Luo et al. reported a free-standing macroporous graphene@C<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> composite cathode, which exhibited a 0.48 V lower charge plateau and a 0.13 V higher discharge plateau than those of pure graphene cathode with a capacity of nearly 17,300 mA h  $g_{composite}^{-1}$  [240]. Luo et al. fabricated B<sub>4</sub>C nanowires which enabled a terminal discharge voltage higher than 2.2 V after 120 cycles at a current density of 0.4 mA cm<sup>-2</sup> and a high roundtrip efficiency of 76% [241]. Ma et al. synthesized nickel sulfides with two different morphologies (flower-like and rod-like). Both of them demonstrated excellent catalytic activities towards the formation and decomposition of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and the flower-like one can give the highest capacity and the lowest charge voltage [242].

#### 3.2.2. Mechanisms of catalysts in discharge and charge

The above section summarized different kinds of catalysts applied in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries. Although some promising electrochemical performance has been reported, different electrode configurations (e.g., catalyst loading, electrode thickness), electrolyte employments (e.g., DMSO, TEGDME), and operating conditions (e.g., current density) result in a systematical comparison inapplicable [243,244]. At the present research stage, understanding the roles of catalysts in discharge and charge is crucial to design the suitable and effective catalyst for performance improvements.

During the discharge process, the first electron reduction most likely proceeds by the formation of superoxide species such as O<sup>2-</sup> and LiO<sub>2</sub>, as expressed in Reaction 1. Then, LiO<sub>2</sub> may chemically disproportionate or electrochemically undergo a second electron reduction to form Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Unlike traditional ORR process with H atoms involved, the ORR process in non-aqueous Li-O<sub>2</sub> batteries shows different behaviors due to the unavoidable influence of Li atoms and the accumulating of discharge products [222,245,246]. Lu et al. studied catalytic activity trends of Li<sup>+</sup>-ORR, and found a volcano-like tendency with activity decreased in the order of Pd > Pt > Ru  $\approx$  Au > GC on bulk surfaces [247], which were further obtained by density functional theory (DFT) calculations [248], as shown in Fig. 8 [249]. The results indicated that oxygen adsorption energy can be a descriptor for Li<sup>+</sup>-ORR activities, and an active Li<sup>+</sup>-ORR catalyst needs to have a close O atom adsorption energy with that of Pt or Pd. Too strong O atom adsorption on the catalyst (e.g., Ru) diminishes the bonding with lithium atom in subsequent reactions, while too weak adsorption (e.g., GC, Au, Ag) hinders O<sub>2</sub>



Fig. 8. Comparison of non-aqueous Li<sup>+</sup>-ORR potentials a function of calculated oxygen adsorption energy from experiments and DFT calculations [249].

activation. In addition, the step edges of metals are more active than the close-packed ones. Using similar models, other Li<sup>+</sup>-ORR catalysts were further investigated and the descriptors for Li<sup>+</sup>-ORR were proposed. For example, Kim et al. calculated the catalytic effect of Pt (111), Pt<sub>3</sub>Co (111), PtCo (111) and Co (0001) as the bi-functional catalysts, and found a corresponding discharge overpotential of 1.02, 1.02, 0.19 and 1.77 eV, respectively [250]. They also suggested that the low ORR overpotential is closely related to strong Li adsorption. After the formation of LiO<sub>2</sub>, it is suggested that an equilibrium exists between LiO<sub>2</sub> adsorbed on the electrode and LiO<sub>2</sub> dissolved in the electrolyte solution. Hence, the detailed mechanism is governed by the competition between the LiO<sub>2</sub> solubility and the adsorption free energy of LiO<sub>2</sub> on the oxygen electrode surface [196]. For a given electrolyte, different electrode surfaces have different adsorption energies and therefore play a key role in determining the Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> morphology and the discharge performance [251-254], while the detailed mechanisms are still under investigation.

During the charge process, the solid discharge product  $Li_2O_2$ needs to decompose to lithium and oxygen. Since both the catalyst and the reactant (Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) are in the solid state, and Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> will block at least partly the catalyst surface, the transport of solid reactant and the interaction between catalyst and Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> would become additional limiting factors of the OER kinetics. The efficiency of electrocatalysts was questioned by McCloskey et al. [73]. Their results indicated that in lithium-air batteries employing DME as a solvent where Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was the dominant discharge product, metal (Pt and Au supported on Vulcan Carbon) and metal oxide ( $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> nanowires mixed into VC) catalysts did not lower the OER potential compared to pure carbon. Moreover, the onset potential at which oxygen evolution occurs was nearly identical for all cathodes and was just above the open circuit voltage of the discharged battery ( $\sim$ 2.8 V). However, the batteries under test were only discharged to a very low capacity ( $\sim$ 130 mA h g<sup>-1</sup><sub>carbon</sub>), which is significantly below the observed capacity of most lithium-air batteries. Consequently, such conclusions may only be representative of the very initial charging behavior. To examine the different activities of catalysts towards OER. Shao-Horn et al. used cathodes consisting of non-catalyzed and catalyzed VC and chemically synthesized Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and found that VC and Au nanoparticles supported on VC (Au/C) were fairly inactive for catalyzing the Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> oxidation, while Pt and Ru nanoparticles supported on VC (Pt/C and Ru/C) could significantly increase the kinetics of the Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> oxidation, and showed quick initiation of the  $Li_2O_2$  oxidation [255]. In the following study, they revealed three major reaction stages upon the charge process [256]: During the oxidation of the first sub-nanometer layer of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, the reaction exhibits a sloping voltage profile, requires relatively low overpotentials (<400 mV), and is insensitive to catalysts and charge rates, which can explain the observation in McCloskey's work. The subsequent flat voltage plateau is found to be highly sensitive to charge rates, catalysts, the thickness of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (discharge capacity), and the rate at which the Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is formed (discharge rate). This process could be attributed to oxidation of the bulk of the Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> with large barriers associated with nucleation and growth of supercritical nuclei. Finally, the potential rises sharply toward the end of the charge reaction, which most likely results from oxidation of parasitic carbonates and electrolytes. This study revealed a number of factors that can influence the OER overpotential and offered a possible explanation to bridge the different thoughts regarding the OER kinetics and the role of catalysts on the OER kinetics. Nazar et al. applied nanocrystalline Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> grown on reduced graphene oxide (Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/RGO), and suggested that Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/RGO does not act as conventional electrocatalyst to lower the activation energy through electron transfer, but acts as a promoter to enhance surface transport of  $Li_xO_2$  species by reducing their binding energy in both the forward and reverse electrochemical processes [257]. They further used operando X-ray diffraction (XRD) to observe the oxidation of  $Li_2O_2$ , and found that the oxidation of electrochemically generated  $Li_2O_2$  occurs in two stages: The oxidation proceeds first through a non-crystalline lithium peroxide component; followed at higher potential by the crystalline peroxide *via* a Li deficient solid solution ( $Li_{2-x}O_2$ ) phase [258].

To unravel the OER mechanism in the solid-solid interface, a variety of works has been carried out by both experiments and theoretical calculations. Shao-Horn et al. investigated the oxidation kinetics of commercialized Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> on metal nanoparticles of Mo, Cr, Ru, Co and Mn as well as their corresponding metal oxides of MoO<sub>3</sub>, Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, RuO<sub>2</sub>, Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>, and  $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> [259]. Results showed that the specific activities decreased in the sequence of Mo > Cr  $\approx$  Ru > MoO<sub>3</sub>  $\approx$  RuO<sub>2</sub>  $\approx$  Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> > Co  $\approx$  Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>  $\approx$   $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> > Mn, and transition metal nanoparticles had higher activities than their oxides counterparts, particularly for highly active ones (e.g., Mo, Cr, Ru). Moreover, a solid-solid catalytic mechanism was proposed through conversion reactions of:

$$\mathrm{Li}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{2} + \mathrm{M}_{a}\mathrm{O}_{b} \pm \mathrm{O}_{2} \to \mathrm{Li}_{x}\mathrm{M}_{y}\mathrm{O}_{z} \tag{14}$$

where  $M_aO_b$  is the surface composition of the promoter. The Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> firstly chemical reacted with the promoter to obtain lithium metal oxide  $Li_x M_v O_z$ , then electrochemical delithiated, which showed better kinetics than direct oxidation. Thus, the reduced activities from transitional metals to metal oxides result from the relative stability of metal oxides in the presence of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Using DFT calculations, Zhu et al. built the interfacial model of solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> supported on Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> surfaces to explain the solid-solid interface catalytic effects. They found that O-rich Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (111) surface has the highest catalytic effect in reducing charge overpotential and O<sub>2</sub> desorption barrier, while Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (1 1 0) surface leads to a high charge voltage due to its promotion to  $Li_2O_2$  decomposition into  $Li_2O$  [260–262]. They also found that the  $Li^+ \rightarrow Li^+ \rightarrow O_2$  is the thermodynamically favorable pathway in OER process, and the Lewis acid sites on surfaces have a high catalytic activity due to enhanced electrons transfer. Similar calculations were further carried out on the surfaces of TiO, MnO, NiO, ZnO, MoS<sub>2</sub>, TiCl<sub>3</sub> and TiN. Surface acidity was then concluded to be a descriptor for OER, which showed linear and volcano relationships with charging voltage and Li<sup>+</sup> desorption energies, as shown in Fig. 9 [262].

An important feature of the OER process in lithium-air batteries is that due to the formation of solid  $Li_2O_2$ , the OER kinetics is not only determined by the catalyst itself, but also affected by how  $Li_2O_2$  is produced, which is closely related to the ORR process. Therefore, the OER and ORR processes in lithium-air batteries are entangled, and the study of the OER process should take the ORR process into account. First, the discharge product composition can be affected by catalysts. Yang et al. observed two charge



Fig. 9. Desorption energies of Li $^{*}$ , O<sub>2</sub>, and charging voltage versus surface acidity [262].

793

voltage plateaus at 3.2-3.5 V and 4.2-4.3 V, and the lower plateau corresponds to a form of  $Li_2O_2$  with superoxide-like ( $LiO_2$ ) properties [263]. This finding indicated that the discharge product may be a combination of  $LiO_2$  and  $Li_2O_2$ , rather than pure  $Li_2O_2$ . Later on, the formation of LiO<sub>2</sub> species during the discharge process was reported by Xia et al. [264] and Zhai et al. [265,266]. Liu et al. reported that a cathode composed of ZnO nanoparticles anchored on vertically aligned carbon nanotubes could significantly suppress LiO<sub>2</sub> disproportionation, forming the composites of LiO<sub>2</sub>, Li<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and  $Li_2O_2$  in nanometer size as the final discharge products [267]. Xiao et al. found that owing to the stronger binding energy between LiO<sub>2</sub> and the Pd surface, amorphous Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> with higher ionic conductivities of  $Li^+$  and  $O_2^{2-}$  was generated, resulting in the improved charge performance with the voltage as low as 3.08 V [252]. Through using a reduced graphene oxide (rGO) cathode with Ir nanoparticles. Lu et al. developed a lithium-oxygen battery based on  $LiO_2$  as the discharge product, which is stable enough to be repeatedly charged and discharged with a very low charge voltage of ~3.2 V [251]. In addition to the product composition, the product morphology also has a great influence on the charge overpotential [77,268]. As Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> has poor electrical conductivity, the smaller sized product allows better contact between Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and elec trolyte/catalyst/conducting agent, which lowers charge voltage. The changes of product morphology by using catalysts were widely reported, which was changed from large aggregated particles into layer structures or thin films [228,269,270]. The contact situation was greatly improved, reducing the charge voltage.

The detailed mechanisms of catalysts in the discharge and charge processes still need further investigations [271]. It is worth noting that in addition to using charge voltage profiles, more characterization techniques should be applied to test the real effects of catalysts. Peng et al. used differential electrochemical mass spectrometry (DEMS) to monitor the charge process. They found that the noble metals (e.g., Pd, Ru) did not work according to the desired electrochemistry [272]. Instead, as shown in Fig. 10, the presence of noble metal catalysts decreased O<sub>2</sub> recovery efficiency but increased CO<sub>2</sub> evolution during charge, impairing the reversibility. Nazar et al. found that for nanostructured metallic carbide (Mo<sub>2</sub>C). although the low charge voltages in different electrolytes have been observed [273], an extremely high ratio of  $e^{-1}/O_{2}$  during charge was reveled (11.6 for TEGDME and >15 for DMSO) by DEMS, demonstrating the misleading of the charge profiles [274]. Hence, the estimation of catalysts should be built on a comprehensive scope to get truly improved performance [46].

## 3.3. Long-term stability

#### 3.3.1. Instability of carbon materials

In non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, carbon materials have been widely applied as catalysts or supporters due to the large surface area, proper pore size and volume, reaction activities, and economic merits. However, both the highly oxidizing environment and the discharge product  $(Li_2O_2)$  can lead to the decomposition of carbon materials [275]. For example,  $Li_2O_2$  can chemically react with carbon through the highly exothermic reactions as:

$$Li_2O_2 + C + 1/2O_2 \rightarrow Li_2CO_3 \ (\Delta G = -542.4 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1})$$
(15)

$$2Li_2O_2 + C \rightarrow Li_2O + Li_2CO_3 \ (\Delta G = -533.6 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1})$$
(16)

where  $\Delta G$  is the free energy change at 300 K. McCloskey et al. used both quantitative isotropically labeled differential DEMS and X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) to show that Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> reacts with a carbon cathode chemically during discharge to form a thin Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> film at the carbon interface [275]. Such monolayer carbonate layer at the carbon-Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> interface causes a  $\sim$ 10–100-fold decrease in the exchange current density, leading to the high overpotential during charge. A latter study performed by Bruce et al. demonstrated that carbon is relatively stable below 3.5 V on discharge or charge, especially so for hydrophobic carbon: but is unstable on charging above 3.5 V in the presence of  $Li_2O_2$ . As the major contribution to carbon decomposition occurs on charging above 3.5 V, direct chemical reaction with Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is not primarily responsible, but involves reaction with an intermediate, such as LiO<sub>2</sub> [276]. Since oxidation of Li<sub>2</sub>- $CO_3$  on charging to  $\sim 4$  V is incomplete; the net effect is that  $Li_2CO_3$ accumulates in the electrode, leading to rapid polarization on charge as well as electrode passivation and capacity fading on cycling. Moreover, carbon electrodes also have the activity to decompose electrolytes, especially hydrophilic carbon, leading to a short cycling life. Thus, how to increase the cycling life of carbon materials is a big issue.

Since the carbon surface, especially with defects, can cause the decomposition of electrolytes, a natural thought to deal with this issue is to protect the carbon surface. Lu et al. passivated the defects on a porous carbon surface by a protective Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> coating applied by atomic layer deposition. Meanwhile, small Pd nanoparticles attached to the surface acted as effective electrocatalysts and promoted the formation of a nanocrystalline form of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> with good electronic transport. Using this architecture, the charge potential was significantly reduced to about 3.2 V, with an overpotential of only about 0.2 V [277]. A similar method was used by Xie et al. through growing a thin layer of  $FeO_x$  on three-dimensionally ordered mesoporous carbon. When decorated with Pd nanoparticle catalysts, the new cathode exhibited a capacity greater than 6000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  and cyclability of more than 68 cycles [278]. Zhou et al. uniformly coated a RuO<sub>2</sub> shell on the surface of core CNTs to prevent the direct contact between CNT and the discharge product Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and thus avoid or reduce the formation of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> [279]. The battery with this cathode showed a round-trip efficiency as high as 79% at a current of 100 mA  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$ , with a discharge and charge overpotential of 0.21 and 0.51 V, respectively. Kim et al.



Fig. 10. DEMS results of O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> evolution during the charge process based on (a) Ru-CNT and (b) Pd-CNT cathodes [272].

used a polydopamine coating on the surface of carbon to not only improve the electrolyte wetting conditions, but also passivate surface defects [207]. Electrochemical tests indicated that the introduction of the polydopamine layer could increase the capacity to ~6000 mA h g<sup>-1</sup><sub>cathode</sub>, lower the charge potential than the pristine electrode, and increased the cycle number to 49 at the current density of 400 mA g<sup>-1</sup><sub>cathode</sub>. Cao et al. developed a carbon-embedded  $\alpha$ -MnO<sub>2</sub>@graphene nanosheet composite cathode with the graphene fully covered by MnO<sub>2</sub> particles to prevent the side reactions on the surface [280]. XPS analysis showed that the Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> byproduct was significantly reduced due to the isolation of carbon with the electrolyte and Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Thus, the composite cathode could deliver a reversible capacity of 2413 mA h g<sup>-1</sup><sub>composite</sub> with an extremely high discharge voltage of 2.92 V and a low charge voltage of 3.72 V.

The above-mentioned approaches focused on the isolation of carbon with the electrolyte and Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. To fully cover the carbon surfaces, a large amount of catalyst/film was usually used (e.g., >50%), lowering the practical specific capacity [279]. Hence, a new strategy targeting the decomposition of side products, especially Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> is of great interest. Wang et al. found that NiO can act as the catalyst to electrochemically decompose Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> after charging up to about 4.1 V [281]. When incorporated nanoporous NiO catalysts on the CNT electrode, the oxidation efficiency of carbonate and carboxylate species could be remarkably enhanced [282]. As shown in Fig. 11, transmission electron microscope (TEM) images at 0, 50%, and 100% depth of the 5th charge show that the products homogeneously passivated on the NiO/CNT appear to form agglomerates next to the NiO in the interim, then disappeared at the completion. More importantly, the nanoporous NiO is stable and has a negligible contribution to the electrolyte oxidation. As a result, NiO greatly improves the cycling life to more than 70 cycles. In addition to NiO, Zhang et al. found that ultrafine iridium-decorated boron carbide (Ir/B<sub>4</sub>C) nanocomposite can decompose Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> with an efficiency close to 100% at a voltage below 4.37 V [283]. They also investigated a redox mediator, binuclear cobalt phthalocyanine (bi-CoPc), as a mobile catalyst to facilitate the decomposition of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. They demonstrated that bi-CoPc could significantly accelerate Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> oxidation by 2.88 times, improving the cyclability by 8 times to 171 cycles under CO<sub>2</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> (2:1, v/v) and 6 times to 211 cycles under N<sub>2</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> (78:22, v/v) with cut-off capacity of 500 mA h g<sup>-1</sup> [284].

## 3.3.2. Application of non-carbon electrodes

The instability of carbons has driven to develop non-carbon cathode for non-aqueous lithium-air batteries. Cui et al. developed a free-standing cathode composed of Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> catalyst and Ni foam by chemical deposition reaction, as shown in Fig. 12a [64]. Consequently, carbon and binder were no longer needed so that the stability was expected to be improved. However, the use of unstable carbonate electrolytes in their work limited the advantages of this nickel-based cathode. Later on, the cathodes based on nickel substrate were developed with direct grown of various materials, such as  $Co_3O_4$  with different morphologies [82,285], sponge-like  $\varepsilon$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> [286], wave-like NiCo<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> [287], CoO nanowire array [288], flower-like Co-Ti layered double oxide [289]. Kim et al. developed a cathode with Au nanoparticle-coated on Ni nanowire substrate [290]. This optimized cathode not only showed a high capacity of 921 mA h  $g_{Au}^{-1}$  at the current density of 300 mA  $g_{Au}^{-1}$ , but also exhibited excellent cycle stability with the capacity retention of 98.1% after the 100th cycle at 500 mA  $g_{Au}^{-1}$ .

A TiC cathode was developed based on a stainless steel mesh [195]. The results showed that this cathode could greatly reduce side reactions compared with carbon and exhibit better reversible formation/decomposition of  $Li_2O_2$  even than nanoporous gold. Nazar et al. further demonstrated that even as thin as 3 nm insulating TiO<sub>2</sub> surface layers on TiC can completely inhibit the charge reaction [291]. They further applied metallic Magnéli phase Ti<sub>4</sub>O<sub>7</sub> with a crystallite size between 10 and 20 nm as the cathode material [292], and demonstrated that this material can oxidize  $Li_2O_2$  on charge just above 3 V, comparable to gold and TiC, and the majority (~65%) of oxygen release occurs in the 3–3.5 V. Based on a stainless



Fig. 11. Decomposition process of the passivation layer of carbonate/carboxylate species on NiO/CNT: (a-c) TEM images at (a) 0, (b) 50%, and (c) 100% accomplished 5th charge. The scale bars are 100 nm. (d) Schematic illustration of carbonate/carboxylate decomposition [282].

(a) <u>10µm</u> <u>200µm</u> (c) <u>1µm</u> <u>1µm</u>

**Fig. 12.** SEM images of various non-carbon air electrodes: (a) a free-standing  $C_{0_3}O_4$  catalyst at a Ni foam [64]; (b)  $MnO_2$  nanosheets on a stainless steel felt [295]; (c) Pt modified TiO<sub>2</sub> nanotube arrays [297]; and (d) Ru-decorated TiSi<sub>2</sub> nanonets on Ti mesh [301].

steel substrate, other catalysts have been reported, such as manganese oxides  $(MnO_x)$  [293–295] (Fig. 12b) and porous AgPd-Pd composite nanotubes [296].

 $TiO_2$  nanotube arrays as the catalyst support were used by Sun et al. to construct a carbon- and binder-free cathode, as shown in Fig. 12c [297]. After being coated with Pt nanoparticles by a cool sputtering approach, a battery with this cathode realized enhanced cyclability of more than 140 cycles with a fixed capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{Pt}^{-1}$  at  $1.0 \text{ A } g_{Pt}^{-1}$ . Later on, they replaced Pt with RuO<sub>2</sub> catalyst on the TiO<sub>2</sub> nanotube arrays, and the battery exhibited 130 cycles with a fixed capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{loading}^{-1}$  at 1.770 mA  $g_{loading}^{-1}$  [298].

A stable conductive indium tin oxide (ITO) embedded with Ru nanoparticles was fabricated on a Ti mesh and introduced as a carbon-free cathode [299]. A good stability with 50 cycles was obtained, due to the superior catalytic activity of Ru nanoparticles toward ORR and OER and the absence of carbon to avoid the formation of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. However, due to the heavy mass of ITO, the specific capacities were still low. To overcome such issue, they applied Sbdoped tin oxide (STO) supported Ru nanoparticles (Ru/STO) on an Al mesh [300]. A battery with this cathode obtained a large specific capacity of 750 mA h  $g_{loading}^{-1}$  at 0.1 mA cm<sup>-2</sup>. Based on Ti mesh, Rudecorated TiSi<sub>2</sub> nanonets (Fig. 12d) [301], and TiSi<sub>2</sub> with Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and Pd have also been reported [302]. The resulting heteronano structure enabled a lithium-air battery that could be discharged and charged for more than 100 cycles with average round-trip efficiencies larger than 70% [301]. Zhao et al. developed a Ti nanowire arrays with Au nanoparticles on Ti foam. A battery with this cathode can be cycled at a current density of 5 A  $g^{-1}$  with a capacity limitation of 1000 mA h  $g^{-1}$  for 640 cycles [303].

With the applications of non-carbon electrodes in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, the formation of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> is effectively suppressed, leading to an improved cycling life. However, it should be noting that even applying non-carbon electrodes, decomposition may still occur. For example, Veith and Dudney demonstrated that nickel foam promotes the electrochemical degradation of carbonate-based electrolytes at potentials greater than 3.5 V [304]. In relatively stable electrolyte DMSO, the decomposition caused by Ni form has been demonstrated [305]. Moreover, the lar-

ger densities of non-carbon materials (e.g., Ni, Au) will result in a low specific capacity. Therefore, both the capacity penalty and the long-term stability should be taken into account when developing non-carbon electrodes.

#### 3.4. Operation in the air

#### 3.4.1. Oxygen selective membranes

To achieve the most striking feature of high capacity and energy density, obtaining oxygen from atmospheric air is essential. However, most lithium-air batteries investigated in literature were tested in a pure oxygen environment with an oxygen pressure equal to or greater than 1.0 atm, while the common ambient atmosphere is composed of oxygen with a partial pressure of only 0.21 atm and other gases, such as nitrogen, carbon dioxide, and water moisture. Even though a lithium-protected anode could be applied in the battery to avoid the contamination of lithium metal, carbon dioxide and water moisture could lead to side reactions in the cathode during discharge as follows:

$$4Li^{+} + 4e^{-} + O_2 + 2CO_2 \rightarrow 2Li_2CO_3$$
(17)

$$4Li^+ + 4e^- + 2H_2O_{(vap)} + O_2 \rightarrow 4LiOH$$

$$\tag{18}$$

$$2\text{LiOH} + \text{CO}_2 \rightarrow \text{Li}_2\text{CO}_3 + \text{H}_2\text{O} \tag{19}$$

$$2Li_2O_2 + 2H_2O_{(vap)} \rightarrow 4LiOH + O_2 \tag{20}$$

For non-aqueous and solid-state lithium-air batteries in which Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is the dominant discharge product, although carbon dioxide and water moisture could lead to an increase of capacity [137,306,307], the poor rechargeability of LiOH and Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> has been theoretically [308] and experimentally demonstrated [138,264]. Hence, one solution to enable the operation of lithium-air batteries in ambient air is introducing an oxygen selective membrane to prevent the contaminations of other gasses.

Zhang et al. evaluated several polymer membranes as oxygen diffusion membrane and moisture barrier [309]. It showed that high-density polyethylene can provide sufficient oxygen flow at a

current density of 0.05–0.1 mA cm<sup>-2</sup>. They further improved the battery stability with a surface-modified polypropylene separator and obtained a specific energy of  $344 \text{ W} \text{ h} \text{ kg}_{\text{battery}}^{-1}$  in ambient air with a relative humidity (RH) of  $\sim 20\%$  [310]. Liu et al. applied silicon oil as an O<sub>2</sub>-selective liquid, and found that the silicon oil of high viscosity showed the better performance [311]. The new membrane materials and structures were effective in blocking the moisture while allowing oxygen permeate through, and could even prevent the evaporation of electrolyte. Based on silicon rubbers, Crowther et al. developed an oxygen selective membrane in a primary non-aqueous lithium-air battery, which exhibited high permeability for oxygen and impeded water transport from the atmosphere and solvent loss [312]. They also applied Teflon coated fiberglass cloth as the O<sub>2</sub> selective membrane for primary nonaqueous lithium-air batteries [313]. These membranes could transport  $O_2$  to support a rate of approximately 0.2 mA cm<sup>-2</sup>, and suppress the electrolyte evaporation with approximately 2% loss over 40 days. Zhou et al. developed a hydrophobic diffusion layer based on carbon and PTFE to suppress water moisture from the air in a quasisolid-state lithium-air battery [99]. With this hydrophobic diffusion layer, a battery exhibited a discharge capacity of 10,730 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  at 2.0 V and then a completely reversible charge process at about 4.0 V with a mid-potential deviation of 1.17 V. Cao et al. developed a novel mixed matrix membrane by incorporating polydopamine-coated metal organic framework crystals into a polymethylmethacrylate matrix, which possesses the advantages of high oxygen permeability, high capability of carbon dioxide capture, and excellent hydrophobic behavior [314]. When operated at the ambient atmosphere with 30% RH, a battery with this membrane exhibited a discharge capacity of 1480 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  and 66 cycles at the fixed capacity of 450 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$ .

For oxygen selective membranes, the substantial thickness and limited surface area can cause an increase in the oxygen transport distance and a limited oxygen permeation area, resulting in a sacrifice in the battery performance. To address these issues, Zhu et al. reported a solid-state lithium-air battery with a thin silicone oil film coated on the cathode pores [315]. Different from the traditional design (Fig. 13a), this integrated film as schemed in Fig. 13b can not only block water vapor and carbon dioxide from reaching reaction sites but allow a high rate of oxygen transport. As a result, a battery with this integrated oxygen selective membrane can operate in ambient air at 5000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  for 50 cycles and reaches a charge/discharge rate as high as 2.0 mA cm<sup>-2</sup>.

Although the integrated oxygen selective membrane shows the promising for practical application, such design is hard to be applied in other types of lithium-air batteries due to the liquid electrolytes. Hence, developing a membrane with high oxygen permeability and selectivity is still challenging.

#### 3.4.2. Decomposition of side products

In addition to developing the oxygen selective membrane, a new strategy to enable the operation of a lithium-air battery in ambient air is to find a suitable catalyst that can efficiently promote the decomposition of side products. The main side products in non-aqueous and solid-state lithium-air batteries are lithium carbonate  $(Li_2CO_3)$  and lithium hydroxide (LiOH) come from carbon dioxide and water in ambient air. The combination of proper catalysts may realize the operation of lithium-air batteries in ambient air.

Wang et al. used gold/ $\delta$ -manganese-dioxide (Au/ $\delta$ -MnO<sub>2</sub>) catalyst to evaluate the practical operation in ambient air. Au/ $\delta$ -MnO<sub>2</sub> could catalyze the decomposition of LiOH in some extent, and the battery was able to be operated in open air (RH = 35%) for 16 cycles [316]. Wu et al. integrated a hydrophobic ionic liquid-based electrolyte and a cathode composed of electrolytic MnO<sub>2</sub> and RuO<sub>2</sub> supported on Super P for a lithium-air battery. The battery can



**Fig. 13.** Schematic representations of architectures for (a) conventional solid-state lithium-air batteries with a thick solid-state electrolyte layer and a planar oxygen selective membrane, and (b) an integrated structure of a carbon-coated LATP cathode with a silicone-oil film inside [315].

be sustained in a humid atmosphere (RH = 51%) with a high discharge voltage of 2.94 V and the low charge voltage of 3.34 V for 218 cycles due to the synergistic effect of the unique hydrophobic electrolyte and the electrochemical activity towards LiOH [317]. Tan et al. fabricated a cathode composed of RuO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticledecorated NiO nanosheets, in which RuO<sub>2</sub> can catalyze ORR and OER, as well as promote the decomposition of LiOH, while NiO nanosheets can promote the decomposition of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> and meanwhile provide a large surface area for the utilization of RuO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles [305]. This electrode enables the battery to be operated in ambient air with a RH of  $60 \pm 5\%$  at 500 mA h g<sup>-1</sup> for 200 cycles (800 h), with stable Coulombic efficiency (100%) and high round-trip efficiency (~75%) as presented in Fig. 14. Recently, Wang et al. developed a battery supported by a polymer electrolyte containing 0.05 M LiI. The polymer electrolyte alleviated the lithium passivation induced by attacking air, and the I<sup>-</sup>/I<sub>2</sub> conversion in polymer electrolyte acted as a redox mediator to facilitate the electrochemical decomposition of discharge products during the charge process. As a result, the battery could be stably cycled 400 times in ambient air with a RH of 15% [318].

Even with progress, the operation in the air still has a long way to go. Developing functional membranes on the air electrode to selective oxygen and suppress the liquid electrolyte evaporation, and meanwhile applying catalysts with high activities toward side products, are great challenges.



Fig. 14. Cycling stability of a battery fitted with the RuO<sub>2</sub>/NiO cathode in ambient air: (a) Discharge-charge profiles with cycling; (b) discharge-charge profiles of selected cycles; and (c) columbic efficiency and round-trip efficiency [305].

# 3.5. Summary of challenges in air electrodes

For non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, during discharge the surface area and pore structure of the air electrode are changed due to the formation of solid discharge product Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, affecting the transporting kinetics. It has been shown that the product morphologies are associated with electrolyte properties and distribution, electrode surfaces and structures, and operating conditions, which eventually determine the discharge capacity. Hence, to obtain a high capacity, new insights into the complex correlations are required and will give important guidance for the structure design and optimization. During charge, the potential for the electrochemical decomposition of Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is high, resulting in low round-trip efficiency. To this end, various kinds of catalysts have been applied in the air electrode. Although certain striking achievements have been made, the decomposition mechanism and the role of catalysts are still under investigation, making it difficult in catalyst selections. Carbons, owing to the high specific surface area, proper porosity, and low cost, are usually used as the air electrode materials with a high discharge capacity. However, carbon materials may be corroded or promote the decomposition of electrolytes in the oxidizing environment to form carbonate species covering the electrode surface, leading to a short cycling life. As a result, applying a protective layer or catalysts with activities towards the decomposition of carbonate species onto carbon surfaces may be effective in increasing the cycling life. In addition, non-carbon electrodes exhibit a prolonged cycling life and therefore attract research interests. However, because of their lower specific surface areas than those of carbons, the actual discharge capacities of non-carbon electrodes are usually low and should be further improved for practical application.

For aqueous and hybrid lithium-air batteries, the basic reactions are similar to that in alkaline solutions, with the formation of the soluble product LiOH. To facilitate the electrochemical reactions in the discharge and charge processes and increase the roundtrip efficiency, developing cost-effective catalyst materials is important, especially with bifunctional catalytic activities for both ORR and OER. As the oxygen solubility and diffusivity in liquid electrolytes are not high enough, facilitating the transport of species through designing novel electrode structures (e.g., using a flow system) is crucial for improving the power output.

For solid-state lithium-air batteries, although the discharge product is reported to be the solid Li<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> as that in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, its formation and decomposition mechanisms are still unknown, and the effects of catalysts have few been investigated yet, resulting in the lack of guidance for further improving the round-trip efficiency. In addition, as lithium ion and electron can only transport through the solid electrolyte and the air electrode, respectively, the reaction boundaries are limited, resulting in a low discharge capacity. Hence, novel structures with the integrated electrolyte-electrode should be developed.

The reported lithium-air batteries are usually operated in pure oxygen instead of ambient air, which is attributed to the fact that other gasses can participate in the reaction to form side products that passivate the air electrode and lead to the failure of the battery. Whereas the high theoretical energy density of lithium-air batteries can be delivered only when they can be operated in ambient air. To achieve this target, it is essential to apply catalysts with activities toward the decomposition of side products and/or develop an oxygen-selective membrane with high oxygen selectivity and permeability. Such a membrane should meanwhile suppress the evaporation of liquid electrolytes to enable the longterm operation.

## 4. Lithium electrodes

In most reported lithium-air batteries, lithium metal is directly chosen as the anode, which is expected to achieve the highest capacity and energy. However, using lithium metal as the electrode has long-standing issues including the uncontrollable dendritic lithium growth and the limited Coulombic efficiency during repeated charge and discharge cycles [319]. In non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, the reactions on the interface between lithium and electrolytes are far more complicated due to the participation of oxygen. Even using a solid-state lithium ion conducting membrane to block oxygen crossover as the situations in aqueous, hybrid, and solid-state lithium-air batteries [37,38], the dendrite formation is still a serious issue. Therefore, in this section, we first discuss the effect of oxygen crossover on the degradation of the lithium electrode in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries and possible solutions. Then, the dendrite formation and suppression approaches will be introduced. Furthermore, alternatives of lithium metal in the application of lithium-air batteries will also be summarized.

#### 4.1. Contaminations from O<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>O crossover

In non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, glass fiber paper or polypropylene membranes are widely used as separators. Such separators are of porous structure and saturated with electrolytes, which cannot prevent the dissolved oxygen from reacting with the lithium. Meanwhile, by-products (e.g.,  $H_2O$ ,  $CO_2$ ) from decompositions of electrolytes and cathodes can also diffuse through the separator and react with the lithium anode.

The SEI formation in the presence of O<sub>2</sub> in the carbonate electrolyte was studied by Younesi et al. [320]. The results indicated that the presence of  $O_2$  not only influenced the composition of the SEI, but also increased the resistance of the battery and affected the lithium stripping and plating. Based on a more stable solvent, TEGDME, Assary et al. investigated its stability in an oxygen environment at the lithium anode [321]. The results demonstrated the formation of LiOH and carbonates at the anode, which block the migration of lithium ions, leading to the failure of the anode. Shui et al. investigated the reversibility of the anodic lithium inside of a lithium-air battery using spatially and temporally resolved synchrotron X-ray diffraction and 3-D micro-tomography technique [322]. The results revealed a constant conversion of metallic Li to LiOH during both discharge and charge stages, as shown in Fig. 15, possibly resulting from the reaction of Li with H<sub>2</sub>O formed through the electrolyte decomposition.

Since the contaminations from O<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>O crossover can be a significant problem that leads to the failure of lithium-air batteries [13], protecting the lithium anode will be important for achieving a long cycle life. Although using a glass-ceramic membrane (e.g., NASICON-type oxides) can prevent  $O_2/H_2O$  crossover [37], the heavy densities cause a decrease in the practical capacity. Hence, other approaches that do not sacrifice the capacity should be applied. Kim et al. introduced poreless polyurethane separator as a simple and effective solution to solve the crossover issue, which prevents O<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O while lithium ion diffusion is facilitated by high electrolyte uptake through the interchain space. As a result, a persistent capacity of 600 mA h  $g^{-1}$  is preserved for more than 200 cycles. Zhang et al. proposed a facile while effective strategy to protect the Li anode through artificially fabricating a protection film on the metal lithium [323]. They added fluoroethylene carbonate (FEC) into the traditional 1.0 M LiF<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>3</sub>/TEGDME electrolyte, and then fabricated an artificially generated protection film consists of Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, LiF, polyene, and C-F bond-containing compound through an electrochemical strategy. The obtained FEC-treated Li



**Fig. 15.** X-ray tomography images of the used anode: (a) Planar cross-section of LiOH layer on the anode. (b, c) Vertical cross-sections through the anode and a small portion of the separator. I: separator, II: LiOH layer and III: Li metal. The dimension of (a) is 823  $\mu$ m × 806  $\mu$ m [322].

metal anode could enable more than 100 stable cycles with a fixed capacity of 1000 mA h  $g^{-1}$  at a current density of 300 mA  $g^{-1}$ , which is more than three times that of the batteries with the pristine Li metal.

In addition to fabricating a protective membrane/film, another useful method to protect the lithium anode is to form a stable SEI on the lithium surface. Walker et al. demonstrated the successful cycling of a lithium anode in the presence of the DMA solvent by employing LiNO<sub>3</sub> as the lithium salt to stabilize the SEI through the following mechanism [324]:

$$2Li + LiNO_3 \rightarrow Li_2O + LiNO_2 \tag{21}$$

where insoluble Li<sub>2</sub>O contributes toward a stable SEI on the lithium anode surface. A lithium-air battery could cycle for more than 2000 h (>80 cycles) at a current density of 0.1 mA cm<sup>-2</sup> with a consistent charge profile, good capacity retention, and oxygen as the primary gaseous product formed during charge. In addition, no evidence of dimethylamine was observed in the presence of 1 M LiNO<sub>3</sub>, suggesting that the SEI formed in this electrolyte inhibited the reaction between DMA and lithium metal. In a subsequent study, a symmetric Li/Li battery using the same electrolyte could cycle for more than four months under O<sub>2</sub> without any observed failure, showing its effectiveness in maintaining SEI stability [325]. To understand such phenomenon, Uddin et al. demonstrated that the process of persistent stabilization of the SEI with the appearance of O<sub>2</sub> can be summarized by a sum of reactions following Reaction 21 as [326]:

$$\text{LiNO}_2 + 1/2\text{O}_2 \rightarrow \text{LiNO}_3 \tag{22}$$

$$2Li + 1/2O_2 \rightarrow Li_2O \tag{23}$$

which enables the formation of a stable SEI even with O<sub>2</sub> crossover.

### 4.2. Dendrite issues

The dendrite growth can significantly increase the surface area of the lithium, which tends to consume a larger amount of electrolyte and generate a fresh passivation layer. Due to the consumption or the degradation of electrolytes, battery performance will deteriorate after a number of cycles. Moreover, the growing dendrites may damage the separator and reach to the cathode, resulting in an internal short-circuit and leading to a severe safety issue. Lithium dendrite growth in various non-aqueous [327–330] and polymer electrolytes [331–336] has been widely observed and studied, which raises critical challenges for the development of lithium-air batteries.

Several methods to suppress the lithium dendrite have been reported in lithium-air batteries. Lee et al. reported a composite protective layer (CPL) comprised of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and poly(vinylidene fluoride-co-hexafluoropropene) (PVDF-HFP) for the lithium metal [337]. Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> was introduced to provide a sufficient mechanical strength to suppress dendrite initiation and growth, and PVDF-HFP was to impart fast lithium ion transport through the CPL by forming a gel polymer electrolyte with liquid electrolyte. A lithium-air battery with the CPL-coated lithium metal anode exhibited a discharge capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  at the 80th cycle, which was more than 3 times compared to that of a battery without such layer (320 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$ ). The SEM images for the cycled pristine lithium metal are presented in Fig. 16. The lithium metal without CPL presented the formation of mossy lithium, which is typical of dendritic growth and subsequent electrolyte deposition. While the surface of the lithium metal anode protected by the CPL was quite smooth, indicating the effective protection of the lithium anode. Kang et al. employed anodized aluminum oxide (AAO) membranes as model nanoporous separators with high density, uniform, nanometer-sized pores instead of common polymeric separators with irregular, tortuous pores in a non-aqueous lithium-air battery [338]. By employing the AAO membrane, uniform pathways of lithium ion are expected, which likely lead to laterally homogeneous plating/stripping of lithium. As a result, the surface roughening of lithium metal anode during cycles was suppressed and the cycle efficiency was strikingly improved. Recently, a new method using redox mediator to hinder the growth of lithium dendrite was reported by Lee and Park, who used CsI to dissolve in the electrolyte and ionize into Cs<sup>+</sup> and I<sup>-</sup>, which perform their roles in the lithium anode and cathode, respectively. The  $I^-$  ions in the electrolyte facilitate the dissolution of  $Li_2O_2$  in the cathode as a redox mediator, while the Cs<sup>+</sup> ions act as an electrostatic shield at the sharp points of the lithium anode, hindering the growth of lithium dendrite. The combined effects of reduced parasitic reactions and hindered Li-dendrite growth successfully improve the cycling life [339].

Although the lithium metal is the least widely studied component in lithium-air batteries, it is closely related to the cycling life and safety of the battery. Therefore, further studies are required to develop a stable and robust lithium anode.

#### 4.3. Alternatives of lithium metal

Given the stability issues associated with the safety concerns, alternative materials of lithium metal may be required for the anode. To avoid the reaction between the electrolyte and the anode and provide a stable lithium ion source, LiFePO<sub>4</sub>, which is widely used in Li-ion batteries, has been applied as the anode material in lithium-air batteries [129,294,340]. However, such material will lead to a capacity of 170 mA h g<sup>-1</sup> only, which is a great sacrifice compared to that of lithium metal (3862 mA h g<sup>-1</sup>). In addition, the combination of LiFePO<sub>4</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> leads to a potential that cannot be practically used. Therefore, alternatives of lithium metal should be stable and safe, and meanwhile have a high theoretical energy density.

To give a step forward to a safe lithium-air battery, Hassoun et al. demonstrated that a lithiated silicon-carbon composite electrode could be used to successfully replace the typically used lithium anode [341]. The anode was prepared through lithiation of a Si-C composite to form Li<sub>2.6</sub>Si with an expected specific capacity of 2300 mA h  $g^{-1}$ . This anode enabled a battery with a stable capacity of 1000 mA h  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  over 15 cycles. Meanwhile, the theoretical energy density of this Li<sub>x</sub>Si-O<sub>2</sub> battery by considering both the anode and cathode was estimated to 980 W h kg<sup>-1</sup>, higher than a conventional lithium-ion battery with graphite anode and lithium cobalt oxide cathode (384 W h kg<sup>-1</sup>). Guo et al. prepared a lithiated Al-carbon composite electrode with a uniform SEI film as the anode in a non-aqueous lithium-air battery [342]. The discharge-charge voltage profiles of the lithium-air battery with a Li<sub>x</sub>Al-C anode could be cycled over 20 cycles in an oxygen atmosphere at a fixed capacity of 1000 mA h g<sub>cathode</sub> with a total polarization of 1.3 V, much lower than that of a battery with a lithium anode (1.6 V). A silicon anode for hybrid lithium-air batteries was proposed by Teranishi et al. [343]. The silicon anode was composed of mechanically milled silicon power with carbon fiber and a polyimide binder, which was capable to charge to 4000 mA  $g_{carbon}^{-1}$  at 0.272 mA cm<sup>-1</sup>. However, the cyclic performance was poor, due to the volume change of the silicon anode. Thus, to improve the cyclic performance, external pressure may be applied to the silicon anode.

In searching for the alternative anode materials, twodimensional (2-D) materials, such as MXene [344], phosphorene [345], and borophene [346], have attracted much attention due to the high surface-volume ratio, small volume changes, and unique electronic properties. In addition, they were predicted to



Fig. 16. SEM images of the Li electrode (a) without CPL and (b) with CPL after 80 cycles, the insets show a photograph of cycled Li electrodes [337].

be the potential anode candidates because of their high specific capacity and low lithium diffusion barrier. Their future application in lithium-air batteries is worthwhile expecting.

## 4.4. Summary of challenges in lithium electrodes

In this section, the challenges for lithium electrode and the corresponding strategies have been reviewed. Although the reactions between metallic lithium and organic electrolytes in lithium-based batteries have been intensively studied, the appearance of oxygen and other side products makes the reactions on the interface between the lithium anode and the electrolyte far more complicated. These undesired reactions consume lithium and result in a thick passivation layer on the lithium surface, increasing the lithium ion transport resistance and eventually leading to the performance decay and even the failure of the battery. Consequently, fabricating a protective membrane or forming a stable SEI on the lithium surface are crucial for lithium protection. In addition, the lithium dendrite formation and growth are crucial for the stable performance and safety. The related research in lithium-air batteries, however, is still rare in the current stage. The detailed dendrite formation mechanism, associated with the corresponding suppression approaches, calls for in-depth research. Since the metallic lithium brings the above-mentioned complex issues, alternatives materials, such as Li-based alloys and 2-D materials, have attracted great interests. To practically develop alternative materials, a trade-off among the energy density, safety, and stability should be carefully considered.

## 5. Concluding remarks and perspectives

Although lithium-air batteries offer attractive prospect as a future electric power source, various scientific and technical limitations need to be overcome before they can become practical. In particular, the low practical capacity, low round-trip efficiency, and poor cycling life need to be addressed. This review considers four types of lithium-air batteries. The main challenges and future directions for the electrolyte, air electrode, and lithium electrode corresponding to each battery type are summarized as follows:

Electrolytes are considered as the most critical components to achieving a long cycling life:

- (i) For non-aqueous electrolytes, one of the main challenges at the current stage is the search for stable solvents and lithium salts. In addition, functional additives in electrolytes, aiming at stabilizing the electrolyte and/or promoting electrochemical reactions, need to be deeply investigated.
- (ii) For solid-state electrolytes, search for the one with a high lithium ion conductivity, a very low diffusion coefficient for the other species, and a high stability towards both electrolyte and lithium metal is in great need. In addition, polymer electrolytes with the promising applications in flexible lithium-air batteries should draw more research interests.
- (iii) For aqueous electrolytes, choosing the suitable one with a high energy density and a high stability towards the solidstate electrolyte membrane is significant.

In addition to electrolytes, air electrodes, which provide the place for electrochemical reactions, represent major challenges:

(i) To obtain a high practical capacity, the reaction pathways among oxygen, lithium ions, and electrons should be maintained as long as possible. Consequently, the structure in different types of lithium-air batteries should be well designed. Specifically, for solid-state lithium-air batteries, the reaction boundaries should be enlarged; for non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, detailed investigations on the correlations between the cathode microstructures and the synergy transport in the electrolyte are required; for liquid-based (including non-aqueous, aqueous, and hybrid) lithium-air batteries, facilitating the transport of species in the liquid electrolytes (e.g., optimizing the electrolyte distribution inside the cathode, or developing a flow system) is important.

- (ii) To facilitate the electrochemical reactions in the discharge and charge processes, catalysts are introduced. In aqueous electrolytes, finding inexpensive alternatives to noble metals, especially with bifunctional catalytic activities for both ORR and OER, should be the ultimate target. For nonaqueous and solid-state lithium-air batteries, understanding the roles of catalysts in the formation and decomposition of the solid product is essential to develop effective catalysts. In addition, advanced characterization approaches for monitoring the discharge and charge processes should be applied.
- (iii) To ensure a long cycling life, the instabilities of carbon materials should be well addressed. Effective approaches include applying a protective layer onto the carbon surfaces and applying catalysts with activities towards the decomposition of carbonate species. Besides, stable non-carbon cathodes have attracted great research interests, but achieving a large practical discharge capacity is challenging.
- (iv) To operate the battery in ambient air instead of pure oxygen, developing an oxygen-selective membrane with high oxygen selectivity and permeability, or applying catalysts with activities for the decomposition of side products (e.g., Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> and LiOH) are required. Meanwhile, a membrane that can suppress the evaporation of liquid electrolytes is needed for long-term operation of non-aqueous, aqueous, and hybrid lithium-air batteries.

Metallic lithium is typically chosen as the anode material in most studies of lithium-air batteries, which is expected to achieve the highest capacity and energy. The challenges for using lithium include:

- (i) In non-aqueous lithium-air batteries, the reactions on the interface between the lithium anode and electrolytes are far more complicated due to the oxygen/water/side products crossover. Consequently, protecting the lithium electrode through suitable membranes or passivation films is important.
- (ii) Although lithium dendrite formation in lithium-air batteries has been few reported in the current stage, the suppression approaches are important in further research.
- (iii) Given the stability issues associated with safety concerns, alternative materials of metallic lithium with a high stability, safety, as well as a high theoretical energy density are necessary.

Significant future works focusing on these challenges are essential to realize a safe, fully rechargeable lithium-air battery with high capacity, high energy density, and long cycling life for future EV industries.

#### Acknowledgements

The work described in this paper was fully supported by a grant from the Research Grants Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China (Project No. 16213414).

## References

- Yang Z, Zhang J, Kintner-Meyer MCW, Lu X, Choi D, Lemmon JP, et al. Electrochemical energy storage for green grid. Chem Rev 2011;111:3577–613.
- [2] Cairns EJ, Albertus P. Batteries for electric and hybrid-electric vehicles. Annu Rev Chem Biomol Eng 2010;1:299–320.
- [3] Wagner FT, Lakshmanan B, Mathias MF. Electrochemistry and the future of the automobile. J Phys Chem Lett 2010;1:2204–19.
- [4] Girishkumar G, McCloskey B, Luntz AC, Swanson S, Wilcke W. Lithium air battery: promise and challenges. J Phys Chem Lett 2010;1:2193–203.
- [5] Yoon KR, Jung J, Kim I. Recent progress in 1D air electrode nanomaterials for enhancing the performance of nonaqueous lithium-oxygen batteries. ChemNanoMat 2016;2:616–34.
- [6] Wakihara M. Recent developments in lithium ion batteries. Mater Sci Eng: R: Rep 2001;33:109–34.
- [7] Chen B, Leung DYC, Xuan J, Wang H. A mixed-pH dual-electrolyte microfluidic aluminum-air cell with high performance. Appl Energy 2017;185:1303–8.
- [8] Tan P, Wei Z, Shyy W, Zhao TS. Prediction of the theoretical capacity of nonaqueous lithium-air batteries. Appl Energy 2013;109:275–82.
- [9] Bruce PG, Freunberger SA, Hardwick LJ, Tarascon J. Li-O2 and Li-S batteries with high energy storage. Nat Mater 2012;11:19–29.
- [10] Abraham K, Jiang Z. A polymer electrolyte-based rechargeable lithium/ oxygen battery. J Electrochem Soc 1996;143:1–5.
- [11] Laoire CO, Mukerjee S, Abraham KM, Plichta EJ, Hendrickson MA. Elucidating the mechanism of oxygen reduction for lithium-air battery applications. J Phys Chem C 2009;113:20127–34.
- [12] Laoire CO, Mukerjee S, Abraham KM, Plichta EJ, Hendrickson MA. Influence of nonaqueous solvents on the electrochemistry of oxygen in the rechargeable lithium-air battery. J Phys Chem C 2010;114:9178–86.
- [13] Laoire CO, Mukerjee S, Plichta EJ, Hendrickson MA, Abraham KM. Rechargeable lithium/TEGDME-LiPF6/O2 battery. J Electrochem Soc 2011;158:A302–8.
- [14] Peng Z, Freunberger SA, Chen Y, Bruce PG. A reversible and higher-rate Li-O2 battery. Science 2012;337:563–6.
- [15] Jung H, Hassoun J, Park J, Sun Y, Scrosati B. An improved high-performance lithium-air battery. Nat Chem 2012;4:579–85.
- [16] McCloskey BD, Scheffler R, Speidel A, Girishkumar G, Luntz AC. On the mechanism of nonaqueous Li-O2 electrochemistry on C and Its kinetic overpotentials: some implications for Li-air batteries. J Phys Chem C 2012;116:23897–905.
- [17] Black R, Adams B, Nazar LF. Non-aqueous and hybrid Li-O2 batteries. Adv Energy Mater 2012;2:801–15.
- [18] Viswanathan V, Thygesen KS, Hummelshoj JS, Norskov JK, Girishkumar G, McCloskey BD, et al. Electrical conductivity in Li2O2 and its role in determining capacity limitations in non-aqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Chem Phys 2011;135:214704.
- [19] Visco SJ, Nimon E, Katz B, De Jonghe LC, Chu MY. Lithium/air semi-fuel cells: high energy density batteries based on lithium metal electrodes. In: The 12th international meeting on lithium batteries abstracts, Nara, Japan; 2004. Abstract No. 53.
- [20] Zhang T, Imanishi N, Hasegawa S, Hirano A, Xie J, Takeda Y, et al. Water-stable lithium anode with the three-layer construction for aqueous lithium-air secondary batteries. Electrochem Solid State Lett 2009;12:A132–5.
- [21] Zhang T, İmanishi N, Shimonishi Y, Hirano A, Takeda Y, Yamamoto O, et al. A novel high energy density rechargeable lithium/air battery. Chem Commun 2010;46:1661–3.
- [22] Shimonishi Y, Zhang T, Johnson P, Imanishi N, Hirano A, Takeda Y, et al. A study on lithium/air secondary batteries-stability of NASICON-type glass ceramics in acid solutions. J Power Sources 2010;195:6187–91.
- [23] Zhang T, Imanishi N, Shimonishi Y, Hirano A, Xie J, Takeda Y, et al. Stability of a water-stable lithium metal anode for a lithium-air battery with acetic acidwater solutions. J Electrochem Soc 2010;157:A214–8.
- [24] Zhang T, Liu S, Imanishi N, Hirano A, Takeda Y, Yamamoto O. Water-stable lithium electrode and its application in aqueous lithium/air secondary batteries. Electrochemistry 2010;78:360–2.
- [25] Puech L, Cantau C, Vinatier P, Toussaint G, Stevens P. Elaboration and characterization of a free standing LiSICON membrane for aqueous lithiumair battery. J Power Sources 2012;214:330–6.
- [26] Wang Y, Zhou H. A lithium-air battery with a potential to continuously reduce O2 from air for delivering energy. J Power Sources 2010;195:358–61.
- [27] He P, Wang Y, Zhou H. A Li-air fuel cell with recycle aqueous electrolyte for improved stability. Electrochem Commun 2010;12:1686–9.
- [28] He P, Wang Y, Zhou H. Titanium nitride catalyst cathode in a Li-air fuel cell with an acidic aqueous solution. Chem Commun 2011;47:10701–3.
- [29] Yoo E, Zhou H. Li-air rechargeable battery based on metal-free graphene nanosheet catalysts. Acs Nano 2011;5:3020–6.
- [30] He H, Niu W, Asi NM, Salim J, Chen R, Kim Y. Effects of aqueous electrolytes on the voltage behaviors of rechargeable Li-air batteries. Electrochim Acta 2012;67:87–94.
- [31] Wang S, Dong S, Wang J, Zhang L, Han P, Zhang C, et al. Oxygen-enriched carbon material for catalyzing oxygen reduction towards hybrid electrolyte Li-air battery. J Mater Chem 2012;22:21051–6.

- [32] Zheng JP, Andrei P, Hendrickson M, Plichta EJ. The theoretical energy densities of dual-electrolytes rechargeable Li-air and Li-air flow batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2011;158:A43–6.
- [33] Zheng JP, Liang RY, Hendrickson M, Plichta EJ. Theoretical energy density of Li-air batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2008;155:A432–7.
- [34] Christensen J, Albertus P, Sanchez-Carrera RS, Lohmann T, Kozinsky B, Liedtke R, et al. A critical review of Li/Air batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2012;159: R1-R30.
- [35] Sun Y. Lithium ion conducting membranes for lithium-air batteries. Nano Energy 2013;2:801–16.
- [36] Kumar B, Kumar J. Cathodes for solid-state lithium-oxygen cells: roles of nasicon glass-ceramics. J Electrochem Soc 2010;157:A611–6.
- [37] Shen Y, Sun D, Yu L, Zhang W, Shang Y, Tang H, et al. A high-capacity lithiumair battery with Pd modified carbon nanotube sponge cathode working in regular air. Carbon 2013;62:288–95.
- [38] Visco SJ, Nimon VY, Petrov A, Pridatko K, Goncharenko N, Nimon E, et al. Aqueous and nonaqueous lithium-air batteries enabled by water-stable lithium metal electrodes. J Solid State Electrochem 2014;18:1443–56.
- [39] Zhang T, Imanishi N, Takeda Y, Yamamoto O. Aqueous lithium/air rechargeable batteries. Chem Lett 2011;40:668–73.
- [40] Padbury R, Zhang X. Lithium-oxygen batteries-limiting factors that affect performance. J Power Sources 2011;196:4436-44.
- [41] Capsoni D, Bini M, Ferrari S, Quartarone E, Mustarelli P. Recent advances in the development of Li-air batteries. J Power Sources 2012;220:253–63.
- [42] Garcia-Araez N, Novak P. Critical aspects in the development of lithium-air batteries. J Solid State Electrochem 2013;17:1793–807.
- [43] Li F, Kitaura H, Zhou H. The pursuit of rechargeable solid-state Li-air batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2013;6:2302–11.
- [44] Rahman MA, Wang X, Wen C. A review of high energy density lithium-air battery technology. J Appl Electrochem 2014;44:5–22.
- [45] Balaish M, Kraytsberg A, Ein-Eli Y. A critical review on lithium-air battery electrolytes. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2014;16:2801–22.
- [46] Lu J, Li L, Park J, Sun Y, Wu F, Amine K. Aprotic and aqueous Li-O2 batteries. Chem Rev 2014;114:5611-40.
- [47] Bhatt MD, Geaney H, Nolan M, O'Dwyer C. Key scientific challenges in current rechargeable non-aqueous Li-O2 batteries: experiment and theory. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2014;16:12093–130.
- [48] Li Q, Cao R, Cho J, Wu G. Nanostructured carbon-based cathode catalysts for nonaqueous lithium-oxygen batteries. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2014;16:13568–82.
- [49] Luntz AC, McCloskey BD. Nonaqueous Li-air batteries: a status report. Chem Rev 2014;114:11721–50.
- [50] Yuan J, Yu J, Sundén B. Review on mechanisms and continuum models of multi-phase transport phenomena in porous structures of non-aqueous Li-Air batteries. J Power Sources 2015;278:352–69.
- [51] Wen Z, Shen C, Lu Y. Air electrode for the lithium-air batteries: materials and structure designs. ChemPlusChem 2015;80:270–87.
- [52] Manthiram A, Li L. Hybrid and aqueous lithium-air batteries. Adv Energy Mater 2015;5:1401302.
- [53] Younesi R, Veith GM, Johansson P, Edstrom K, Vegge T. Lithium salts for advanced lithium batteries: Li-metal, Li-O2, and Li-S. Energy Environ Sci 2015;8:1905–22.
- [54] McCloskey BD, Burke CM, Nichols JE, Renfrew SE. Mechanistic insights for the development of Li-O2 battery materials: addressing Li2O2 conductivity limitations and electrolyte and cathode instabilities. Chem Commun 2015;51:12701–15.
- [55] Feng N, He P, Zhou H. Critical challenges in rechargeable aprotic Li–O2 batteries. Adv Energy Mater 2016;6:1502303.
- [56] Geng D, Ding N, Hor TSA, Chien SW, Liu Z, Wuu D, et al. From lithium-oxygen to lithium-air batteries: challenges and opportunities. Adv Energy Mater 2016;6:1502164.
- [57] He P, Zhang T, Jiang J, Zhou H. Lithium-air batteries with hybrid electrolytes. J Phys Chem Lett 2016;7:1267–80.
- [58] Xu W, Xiao J, Zhang J, Wang D, Zhang J. Optimization of nonaqueous electrolytes for primary lithium/air batteries operated in ambient environment. J Electrochem Soc 2009;156:A773–9.
- [59] Yang X, He P, Xia Y. Preparation of mesocellular carbon foam and its application for lithium/oxygen battery. Electrochem Commun 2009;11:1127–30.
- [60] Tran C, Yang X, Qu D. Investigation of the gas-diffusion-electrode used as lithium/air cathode in non-aqueous electrolyte and the importance of carbon material porosity. J Power Sources 2010;195:2057–63.
- [61] Yang X, Xia Y. The effect of oxygen pressures on the electrochemical profile of lithium/oxygen battery. J Solid State Electrochem 2010;14:109–14.
- [62] Mirzaeian M, Hall PJ. Characterizing capacity loss of lithium oxygen batteries by impedance spectroscopy. J Power Sources 2010;195:6817–24.
- [63] Hayashi M, Minowa H, Takahashi M, Shodai T. Surface properties and electrochemical performance of carbon materials for air electrodes of lithium-air batteries. Electrochemistry 2010;78:325–8.
- [64] Cui Y, Wen Z, Liu Y. A free-standing-type design for cathodes of rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2011;4:4727–34.
- [65] Freunberger SA, Chen Y, Peng Z, Griffin JM, Hardwick LJ, Barde F, et al. Reactions in the rechargeable lithium-O2 battery with alkyl carbonate electrolytes. J Am Chem Soc 2011;133:8040–7.

- [66] Mizuno F, Nakanishi S, Kotani Y, Yokoishi S, Iba H. Rechargeable Li-air batteries with carbonate-based liquid electrolytes. Electrochemistry 2010;78:403–5.
- [67] Xiao J, Hu J, Wang D, Hu D, Xu W, Graff GL, et al. Investigation of the rechargeability of Li–O2 batteries in non-aqueous electrolyte. J Power Sources 2011;196:5674–8.
- [68] Read J. Ether-based electrolytes for the lithium/oxygen organic electrolyte battery. J Electrochem Soc 2006;153:A96–A100.
- [69] Xu W, Xiao J, Wang D, Zhang J, Zhang J. Crown ethers in nonaqueous electrolytes for lithium/air batteries. Electrochemical and Solid State Letters 2010;13:A48–51.
- [70] Freunberger SA, Chen Y, Drewett NE, Hardwick LJ, Barde F, Bruce PG. The lithium-oxygen battery with ether-based electrolytes. Angew Chem Int Ed 2011;50:8609–13.
- [71] Wang H, Xie K. Investigation of oxygen reduction chemistry in ether and carbonate based electrolytes for Li-O2 batteries. Electrochim Acta 2012;64:29–34.
- [72] Bryantsev VS, Faglioni F. Predicting autoxidation stability of ether- and amide-based electrolyte solvents for Li-air batteries. J Phys Chem A 2012;116:7128–38.
- [73] McCloskey BD, Scheffler R, Speidel A, Bethune DS, Shelby RM, Luntz AC. On the efficacy of electrocatalysis in nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Am Chem Soc 2011;133:18038–41.
- [74] Lu Y, Kwabi DG, Yao KPC, Harding JR, Zhou J, Zuin L, et al. The discharge rate capability of rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2011;4:2999–3007.
- [75] McCloskey BD, Bethune DS, Shelby RM, Girishkumar G, Luntz AC. Solvents' critical role in nonaqueous lithium-oxygen battery electrochemistry. J Phys Chem Lett 2011;2:1161–6.
- [76] Wang Z, Xu D, Xu J, Zhang L, Zhang X. Graphene oxide gel-derived, freestanding, hierarchically porous carbon for high-capacity and high-rate rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Adv Funct Mater 2012;22:3699–705.
- [77] Gallant BM, Kwabi DG, Mitchell RR, Zhou J, Thompson CV, Shao-Horn Y. Influence of Li2O2 morphology on oxygen reduction and evolution kinetics in Li-O2 batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2013;6:2518–28.
- [78] Jung H, Kim H, Park J, Oh I, Hassoun J, Yoon CS, et al. A transmission electron microscopy study of the electrochemical process of lithium-oxygen cells. Nano Lett 2012;12:4333–5.
- [79] Oh SH, Nazar LF. Oxide catalysts for rechargeable high-capacity Li-O2 batteries. Adv Energy Mater 2012;2:903–10.
- [80] Ma S, Sun L, Cong L, Gao X, Yao C, Guo X, et al. Multiporous MnCo2O4 microspheres as an efficient bifunctional catalyst for nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Phys Chem C 2013;117:25890–7.
- [81] Park J, Hassoun J, Jung H, Kim H, Yoon CS, Oh I, et al. Influence of temperature on lithium-oxygen battery behavior. Nano Lett 2013;13:2971–5.
- [82] Zhao G, Xu Z, Sun K. Hierarchical porous Co3O4 films as cathode catalysts of rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. J Mater Chem A 2013;1:12862–7.
- [83] Liu S, Wang Z, Yu C, Zhao Z, Fan X, Ling Z, et al. Free-standing, hierarchically porous carbon nanotube film as a binder-free electrode for high-energy Li-O2 batteries. J Mater Chem A 2013;1:12033–7.
- [84] Guo Z, Zhou D, Dong X, Qiu Z, Wang Y, Xia Y. Ordered hierarchical mesoporous/macroporous carbon: a high-performance catalyst for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Adv Mater 2013;25:5668–72.
- [85] Lu J, Lei Y, Lau KC, Luo X, Du P, Wen J, et al. A nanostructured cathode architecture for low charge overpotential in lithium-oxygen batteries. Nat Commun 2014;5:3290.
- [86] Black R, Oh SH, Lee J, Yim T, Adams B, Nazar LF. Screening for superoxide reactivity in Li-O2 batteries: effect on Li2O2/LiOH crystallization. J Am Chem Soc 2012;134:2902–5.
- [87] Lim H, Park K, Gwon H, Hong J, Kim H, Kang K. The potential for long-term operation of a lithium-oxygen battery using a non-carbonate-based electrolyte. Chem Commun 2012;48:8374–6.
- [88] Xu D, Wang Z, Xu J, Zhang L, Zhang X. Novel DMSO-based electrolyte for high performance rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Chem Commun 2012;48:6948–50.
- [89] Xu W, Hu J, Engelhard MH, Towne SA, Hardy JS, Xiao J, et al. The stability of organic solvents and carbon electrode in nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Power Sources 2012:215:240–7.
- [90] Mozhzhukhina N, Mendez De Leo LP, Julio Calvo E. Infrared spectroscopy studies on stability of dimethyl sulfoxide for application in a Li-air battery. J Phys Chem C 2013;117:18375–80.
- [91] Sharon D, Afri M, Noked M, Garsuch A, Frimer AA, Aurbach D. Oxidation of dimethyl sulfoxide solutions by electrochemical reduction of oxygen. J Phys Chem Lett 2013;4:3115–9.
- [92] Kwabi DG, Batcho TP, Amanchukwu CV, Ortiz-Vitoriano N, Hammond P, Thompson CV, et al. Chemical instability of dimethyl sulfoxide in lithium-air batteries. J Phys Chem Lett 2014;5:2850–6.
- [93] Schwager P, Dongmo S, Fenske D, Wittstock G. Reactive oxygen species formed in organic lithium-oxygen batteries. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2016;18:10774–80.
- [94] Kuboki T, Okuyama T, Ohsaki T, Takami N. Lithium-air batteries using hydrophobic room temperature ionic liquid electrolyte. J Power Sources 2005;146:766–9.
- [95] De Giorgio F, Soavi F, Mastragostino M. Effect of lithium ions on oxygen reduction in ionic liquid-based electrolytes. Electrochem Commun 2011;13:1090–3.

- [96] Mizuno F, Nakanishi S, Shirasawa A, Takechi K, Shiga T, Nishikoori H, et al. Design of non-aqueous liquid electrolytes for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Electrochemistry 2011;79:876–81.
- [97] Allen CJ, Mukerjee S, Plichta EJ, Hendrickson MA, Abraham KM. Oxygen electrode rechargeability in an ionic liquid for the Li-air battery. J Phys Chem Lett 2011;2:2420–4.
- [98] Allen CJ, Hwang J, Kautz R, Mukerjee S, Plichta EJ, Hendrickson MA, et al. Oxygen reduction reactions in ionic liquids and the formulation of a general ORR mechanism for Li-air batteries. J Phys Chem C 2012;116:20755–64.
- [99] Zhang T, Zhou H. From Li-O2 to Li-air batteries: carbon nanotubes/ionic liquid gels with a tricontinuous passage of electrons, ions, and oxygen. Angew Chem Int Ed 2012;51:11062–7.
- [100] Das SK, Xu S, Emwas A, Lu YY, Srivastava S, Archer LA. High energy lithiumoxygen batteries – transport barriers and thermodynamics. Energy Environ Sci 2012;5:8927–31.
- [101] Cecchetto L, Salomon M, Scrosati B, Croce F. Study of a Li-air battery having an electrolyte solution formed by a mixture of an ether-based aprotic solvent and an ionic liquid. J Power Sources 2012;213:233–8.
- [102] Cui ZH, Fan WG, Guo XX. Lithium-oxygen cells with ionic-liquid-based electrolytes and vertically aligned carbon nanotube cathodes. J Power Sources 2013;235:251–5.
- [103] Higashi S, Kato Y, Takechi K, Nakamoto H, Mizuno F, Nishikoori H, et al. Evaluation and analysis of Li-air battery using ether-functionalized ionic liquid. J Power Sources 2013;240:14–7.
- [104] Nakamoto H, Suzuki Y, Shiotsuki T, Mizuno F, Higashi S, Takechi K, et al. Ether-functionalized ionic liquid electrolytes for lithium-air batteries. J Power Sources 2013;243:19–23.
- [105] Piana M, Wandt J, Meini S, Buchberger I, Tsiouvaras N, Gasteiger HA. Stability of a pyrrolidinium-based ionic liquid in Li-O2 cells. J Electrochem Soc 2014;161:A1992–2001.
- [106] Elia GA, Hassoun J, Kwak W-, Sun Y-, Scrosati B, Mueller F, et al. An advanced lithium-air battery exploiting an ionic liquid-based electrolyte. Nano Lett 2014;14:6572–7.
- [107] Adams BD, Black R, Williams Z, Fernandes R, Cuisinier M, Berg EJ, et al. Towards a stable organic electrolyte for the lithium oxygen battery. Adv Energy Mater 2015;5:1400867.
- [108] Katayama Y, Sekiguchi K, Yamagata M, Miura T. Electrochemical behavior of oxygen/superoxide ion couple in 1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium bis (trifluoromethylsulfonyl) imide room-temperature molten salt. J Electrochem Soc 2005;152:E247-50.
- [109] Mizuno F, Takechi K, Higashi S, Shiga T, Shiotsuki T, Takazawa N, et al. Cathode reaction mechanism of non-aqueous Li-O2 batteries with highly oxygen radical stable electrolyte solvent. J Power Sources 2013;228:47–56.
- [110] Zygadlo-Monikowska E, Florjanczyk Z, Kubisa P, Biedron T, Sadurski W, Puczylowska A, et al. Lithium electrolytes based on modified imidazolium ionic liquids. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39:2943–52.
- [111] Soavi F, Monaco S, Mastragostino M. Catalyst-free porous carbon cathode and ionic liquid for high efficiency, rechargeable Li/O2 battery. J Power Sources 2013;224:115–9.
- [112] Wang H, Xie K, Wang L, Han Y. N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone as a solvent for the non-aqueous electrolyte of rechargeable Li-air batteries. J Power Sources 2012;219:263–71.
- [113] Crowther O, Meyer B, Salomon M. Methoxybenzene as an electrolyte solvent for the primary lithium metal air battery. Electrochem Solid State Lett 2011;14:A113–5.
- [114] Sharon D, Hirsberg D, Afri M, Gorsuch A, Frimer AA, Aurbach D. Reactivity of amide based solutions in lithium-oxygen cells. J Phys Chem C 2014;118:15207–13.
- [115] Giordani V, Bryantsev VS, Uddin J, Walker W, Chase GV, Addison D. Nmethylacetamide as an electrolyte solvent for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries: unexpected stability at the O2 electrode. Ecs Electrochem Lett 2014;3:A11-4.
- [116] Wang F, Liang C, Pang Y, Xu Y, Luo Z. Electrochemical performance of a nonaqueous rechargeable lithium-air battery. Ionics 2013;19:1791–3.
- [117] Luo Z, Liang C, Wang F, Xu Y, Chen J, Liu D, et al. Optimizing main materials for a lithium- air battery of high cycle life. Adv Funct Mater 2014;24:2101–5.
- [118] Barde F, Chen Y, Johnson L, Schaltin S, Fransaer J, Bruce PG. Sulfone-based electrolytes for nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Phys Chem C 2014;118:18892–8.
- [119] Khan A, Zhao C. Enhanced performance in mixture DMSO/ionic liquid electrolytes: toward rechargeable Li –O2 batteries. Electrochem Commun 2014;49:1–4.
- [120] Ara M, Meng T, Nazri G, Salley SO, Simon Ng KY. Ternary imidazoliumpyrrolidinium-based ionic liquid electrolytes for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2014;161:A1969–75.
- [121] Ferrari S, Quartarone E, Tomasi C, Bini M, Galinetto P, Fagnoni M, et al. Investigation of ether-based ionic liquid electrolytes for lithium-O2 batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2015;162:A3001–6.
- [122] Veith GM, Nanda J, Delmau LH, Dudney NJ. Influence of lithium salts on the discharge chemistry of Li-air cells. J Phys Chem Lett 2012;3:1242–7.
- [123] Du P, Lu J, Lau KC, Luo X, Bareno J, Zhang X, et al. Compatibility of lithium salts with solvent of the non-aqueous electrolyte in Li-O2 batteries. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2013;15:5572–81.
- [124] Kang SJ, Mori T, Narizuka S, Wilcke W, Kim H. Deactivation of carbon electrode for elimination of carbon dioxide evolution from rechargeable lithium-oxygen cells. Nat Commun 2014;5:3937.

- [125] Sun B, Huang X, Chen S, Zhang J, Wang G. An optimized LiNO3/DMSO electrolyte for high-performance rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. RSC Adv 2014;4:11115–20.
- [126] Lepoivre F, Grimaud A, Larcher D, Tarascon J. Long-time and reliable gas monitoring in Li-O2 batteries via a swagelok derived electrochemical cell. J Electrochem Soc 2016;163:A923–9.
- [127] Kim BG, Kim S, Lee H, Choi JW. Wisdom from the human eye: a synthetic melanin radical scavenger for improved cycle life of Li-O2 battery. Chem Mater 2014;26:4757–64.
- [128] Matsuda S, Hashimoto K, Nakanishi S. Efficient Li2O2 formation via aprotic oxygen reduction reaction mediated by quinone derivatives. J Phys Chem C 2014;118:18397–400.
- [129] Chen Y, Freunberger SA, Peng Z, Fontaine O, Bruce PG. Charging a Li-O2 battery using a redox mediator. Nat Chem 2013;5:489–94.
- [130] Lim H, Song H, Kim J, Gwon H, Bae Y, Park K, et al. Superior rechargeability and efficiency of lithium-oxygen batteries: hierarchical air electrode architecture combined with a soluble catalyst. Angew Chem Int Ed 2014;53:3926–31.
- [131] Sun D, Shen Y, Zhang W, Yu L, Yi Z, Yin W, et al. A solution-phase bifunctional catalyst for lithium-oxygen batteries. J Am Chem Soc 2014;136:8941–6.
- [132] Bergner BJ, Schurmann A, Peppler K, Garsuch A, Janek J. TEMPO: a mobile catalyst for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. J Am Chem Soc 2014;136:15054–64.
- [133] Zhang T, Liao K, He P, Zhou H. A self-defense redox mediator for efficient lithium-02 batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2016;9:1024–30.
- [134] Choi N, Jeong G, Koo B, Lee Y, Lee KT. Tris(pentafluorophenyl) boranecontaining electrolytes for electrochemical reversibility of lithium peroxidebased electrodes in lithium-oxygen batteries. J Power Sources 2013;225:95–100.
- [135] Zheng D, Lee H, Yang X, Qu D. Electrochemical oxidation of solid Li2O2 in non-aqueous electrolyte using peroxide complexing additives for lithium-air batteries. Electrochem Commun 2013;28:17–9.
- [136] Zhou B, Guo L, Zhang Y, Wang J, Ma L, Zhang W, et al. A high-performance Li– O2 battery with a strongly solvating hexamethylphosphoramide electrolyte and a LiPON-protected lithium anode. Adv Mater 2017. 201701568.
- [137] Meini S, Piana M, Tsiouvaras N, Garsuch A, Gasteiger HA. The effect of water on the discharge capacity of a non-catalyzed carbon cathode for Li-O2 batteries. Electrochem Solid State Lett 2012;15:A45–8.
- [138] Meini S, Tsiouvaras N, Schwenke KU, Piana M, Beyer H, Lange L, et al. Rechargeability of Li-air cathodes pre-filled with discharge products using an ether-based electrolyte solution: implications for cycle-life of Li-air cells. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2013;15:11478–93.
- [139] Li F, Wu S, Li D, Zhang T, He P, Yamada A, et al. The water catalysis at oxygen cathodes of lithium-oxygen cells. Nat Commun 2015;6:7843.
- [140] Liu T, Leskes M, Yu W, Moore AJ, Zhou L, Bayley PM, et al. Cycling Li-O2 batteries via LiOH formation and decomposition. Science 2015;350:530–3.
- [141] Jian Z, Hu Y, Ji X, Chen W. NASICON-structured materials for energy storage. Adv Mater 2017. 1601925.
- [142] Ding F, Xu W, Shao Y, Chen X, Wang Z, Gao F, et al. H+ diffusion and electrochemical stability of Li1 + x + yAlxTi2 + xSiyP3-yO12 glass in aqueous Li/air battery electrolytes. | Power Sources 2012;214:292–7.
- [143] Kitaura H, Zhou H. Electrochemical performance of solid-state lithium-air batteries using carbon nanotube catalyst in the air electrode. Adv Energy Mater 2012;2:889–94.
- [144] Imanishi N, Hasegawa S, Zhang T, Hirano A, Takeda Y, Yamamoto O. Lithium anode for lithium-air secondary batteries. J Power Sources 2008;185:1392-7.
- [145] Zhang T, Imanishi N, Hasegawa S, Hirano A, Xie J, Takeda Y, et al. Li/polymer electrolyte/water stable lithium-conducting glass ceramics composite for lithium-air secondary batteries with an aqueous electrolyte. J Electrochem Soc 2008;155:A965–9.
- [146] Aono H, Sugimoto E, Sadaoka Y, Imanaka N, Adachi GY. Electrical-properties and sinterability for lithium germanium phosphate Li1 + xmxge2-X(po4)3, M = al, Cr, Ga, Fe, Sc, and in Systems. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 1992;65:2200–4.
- [147] Aono H, Imanaka N, Adachi G. High Li + conducting ceramics. Acc Chem Res 1994;27:265–70.
- [148] Thangadurai V, Shukla AK, Gopalakrishnan J. New lithium-ion conductors based on the NASICON structure. J Mater Chem 1999;9:739–41.
- [149] Chowdari BVR, Rao GVS, Lee GYH. XPS and ionic conductivity studies on Li2O-Al2O3(TiO2 or GeO2)-P2O5 glass-ceramics. Solid State Ionics 2000;136:1067–75.
- [150] Leo CJ, Chowdari BVR, Rao GVS, Souquet JL. Lithium conducting glass ceramic with Nasicon structure. Mater Res Bull 2002;37:1419–30.
- [151] Leo CJ, Rao GVS, Chowdari BVR. Fast ion conduction in the Li-analogues of Nasicon, Li1 + x [(Ta1-x Ge-x)Al](PO4)(3). J Mater Chem 2002;12:1848–53.
- [152] Xu X, Wen Z, Wu X, Yang X, Gu Z. Lithium ion-conducting glass-ceramics of Li1.5Al0.5Ge1.5(PO4)(3)-xLi(2)O (x = 0.0-0.20) with good electrical and electrochemical properties. J Am Ceram Soc 2007;90:2802–6.
- [153] Kitaura H, Zhou H. Electrochemical performance and reaction mechanism of all-solid-state lithium-air batteries composed of lithium, Li1 + xAlyGe2-y (PO4)(3) solid electrolyte and carbon nanotube air electrode. Energy Environ Sci 2012;5:9077–84.
- [154] Kumar J, Kumar B. Development of membranes and a study of their interfaces for rechargeable lithium-air battery. J Power Sources 2009;194:1113–9.
- [155] Truong TT, Qin Y, Ren Y, Chen Z, Chan MK, Greeley JP, et al. Single-crystal silicon membranes with high lithium conductivity and application in lithium-air batteries. Adv Mater 2011;23:4947–52.

- [156] Manthiram A, Yu X, Wang S. Lithium battery chemistries enabled by solidstate electrolytes. Nature Reviews Materials 2017;2:16103.
- [157] Jin Y, Guo S, He P, Zhou H. Status and prospects in polymer electrolyte for solid-state Li-O2 (air) battery. Energy Environ Sci 2017;10:860–84.
- [158] Sun C, Liu J, Gong Y, Wilkinson DP, Zhang J. Recent advances in all-solid-state rechargeable lithium batteries. Nano Energy 2017;33:363–86.
- [159] Zhang D, Li R, Huang T, Yu A. Novel composite polymer electrolyte for lithium air batteries. J Power Sources 2010;195:1202–6.
- [160] Lu Q, Gao Y, Zhao Q, Li J, Wang X, Wang F. Novel polymer electrolyte from poly(carbonate-ether) and lithium tetrafluoroborate for lithium-oxygen battery. J Power Sources 2013;242:677–82.
- [161] Elia GA, Hassoun J. A gel polymer membrane for lithium-ion oxygen battery. Solid State Ionics 2016;287:22–7.
- [162] Wu C, Liao C, Li T, Shi Y, Luo J, Li L, et al. A polymer lithium-oxygen battery based on semi-polymeric conducting ionomers as the polymer electrolyte. J Mater Chem A 2016;4:15189–96.
- [163] Luo W, Chou S, Wang J, Kang Y, Zhai Y, Liu H. A hybrid gel-solid-state polymer electrolyte for long-life lithium oxygen batteries. Chem Commun 2015;51:8269–72.
- [164] Yi J, Zhou H. A unique hybrid quasi-solid-state electrolyte for Li–O2 batteries with improved cycle life and safety. ChemSusChem 2016;9:2391–6.
- [165] Liu Q, Xu J, Xu D, Zhang X. Flexible lithium-oxygen battery based on a recoverable cathode. Nat Commun 2015;6:7892.
- [166] Zhang Y, Wang L, Guo Z, Xu Y, Wang Y, Peng H. High-performance lithium-air battery with a coaxial-fiber architecture. Angew Chem Int Ed 2016;55:4487–91.
- [167] He P, Wang Y, Zhou H. The effect of alkalinity and temperature on the performance of lithium-air fuel cell with hybrid electrolytes. J Power Sources 2011;196:5611–6.
- [168] Hasegawa S, Imanishi N, Zhang T, Xie J, Hirano A, Takeda Y, et al. Study on lithium/air secondary batteries-stability of NASICON-type lithium ion conducting glass-ceramics with water. J Power Sources 2009;189:371–7.
- [169] Shimonishi Y, Zhang T, Imanishi N, Im D, Lee DJ, Hirano A, et al. A study on lithium/air secondary batteries-Stability of the NASICON-type lithium ion conducting solid electrolyte in alkaline aqueous solutions. J Power Sources 2011;196:5128–32.
- [170] He K, Zu C, Wang Y, Han B, Yin X, Zhao H, et al. Stability of lithium ion conductor NASICON structure glass ceramic in acid and alkaline aqueous solution. Solid State Ionics 2014;254:78–81.
- [171] Li L, Zhao X, Manthiram A. A dual-electrolyte rechargeable Li-air battery with phosphate buffer catholyte. Electrochem Commun 2012;14:78–81.
- [172] Li L, Fu Y, Manthiram A. İmidazole-buffered acidic catholytes for hybrid Li-air batteries with high practical energy density. Electrochem Commun 2014;47:67–70.
- [173] Gittleson FS, Jones RE, Ward DK, Foster ME. Oxygen solubility and transport in Li–air battery electrolytes: establishing criteria and strategies for electrolyte design. Energy Environ Sci 2017;10:1167–79.
- [174] Hardwick LJ, Bruce PG. The pursuit of rechargeable non-aqueous lithiumoxygen battery cathodes. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 2012;16:178–85.
- [175] Zhu XB, Zhao TS, Wei ZH, Tan P, Zhao G. A novel solid-state Li-O2 battery with an integrated electrolyte and cathode structure. Energy Environ Sci 2015;8:2782–90.
- [176] Bonnet-Mercier N, Wong RA, Thomas ML, Dutta A, Yamanaka K, Yogi C, et al. A structured three-dimensional polymer electrolyte with enlarged active reaction zone for Li-O2 batteries. Sci Rep 2014;4:7127.
- [177] Ding N, Chien SW, Hor TSA, Lum R, Zong Y, Liu Z. Influence of carbon pore size on the discharge capacity of Li-O2 batteries. J Mater Chem A 2014;2:12433–41.
- [178] Zhang SS, Foster D, Read J. Discharge characteristic of a non-aqueous electrolyte Li/O2 battery. J Power Sources 2010;195:1235-40.
  [179] Zhang Y, Zhang H, Li J, Wang M, Nie H, Zhang F. The use of mixed carbon
- [179] Zhang Y, Zhang H, Li J, Wang M, Nie H, Zhang F. The use of mixed carbon materials with improved oxygen transport in a lithium-air battery. J Power Sources 2013;240:390–6.
- [180] Shitta-Bey GO, Mirzaeian M, Halla PJ. The electrochemical performance of phenol-formaldehyde based activated carbon electrodes for lithium/oxygen batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2012;159:A315–20.
- [181] Xiao J, Wang D, Xu W, Wang D, Williford RE, Liu J, et al. Optimization of air electrode for Li/air batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2010;157:A487–92.
  [182] Meini S, Piana M, Beyer H, Schwaemmlein J, Gasteiger HA. Effect of carbon
- [182] Meini S, Piana M, Beyer H, Schwaemmlein J, Gasteiger HA. Effect of carbon surface area on first discharge capacity of Li-O2 cathodes and cycle-life behavior in ether-based electrolytes. J Electrochem Soc 2012;159:A2135–42.
- [183] Chervin CN, Wattendorf MJ, Long JW, Kucko NW, Rolison DR. Carbon nanofoam-based cathodes for Li-O2 batteries: correlation of pore solid architecture and electrochemical performance. J Electrochem Soc 2013;160: A1510–6.
- [184] Tan P, Shyy W, Wei ZH, An L, Zhao TS. A carbon powder-nanotube composite cathode for non-aqueous lithium-air batteries. Electrochim Acta 2014;147:1–8.
- [185] Read J, Mutolo K, Ervin M, Behl W, Wolfenstine J, Driedger A, et al. Oxygen transport properties of organic electrolytes and performance of lithium/ oxygen battery. J Electrochem Soc 2003;150:A1351–6.
- [186] Zhang GQ, Zheng JP, Liang R, Zhang C, Wang B, Hendrickson M, et al. Lithiumair batteries using SWNT/CNF buckypapers as air electrodes. J Electrochem Soc 2010;157:A953–6.
- [187] Sandhu SS, Fellner JP, Brutchen GW. Diffusion-limited model for a lithium/air battery with an organic electrolyte. J Power Sources 2007;164:365–71.

- [188] Andrei P, Zheng JP, Hendrickson M, Plichta EJ. Some possible approaches for improving the energy density of Li-air batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2010;157: A1287–95.
- [189] Li X, Faghri A. Optimization of the cathode structure of lithium-air batteries based on a two-dimensional, transient non-isothermal model. J Electrochem Soc 2012;159:A1747–54.
- [190] Sahapatsombut U, Cheng H, Scott K. Modelling the micro-macro homogeneous cycling behaviour of a lithium-air battery. J Power Sources 2013;227:243-53.
- [191] Yoo K, Banerjee S, Dutta P. Modeling of volume change phenomena in a Li-air battery. J Power Sources 2014;258:340–50.
- [192] Jung CY, Zhao TS, An L. Modeling of lithium-oxygen batteries with the discharge product treated as a discontinuous deposit layer. J Power Sources 2015;273:440–7.
- [193] Tan P, Shyy W, An L, Wei ZH, Zhao TS. A gradient porous cathode for nonaqueous lithium-air batteries leading to a high capacity. Electrochem Commun 2014;46:111–4.
- [194] Mitchell RR, Gallant BM, Shao-Horn Y, Thompson CV. Mechanisms of morphological evolution of Li2O2 particles during electrochemical growth. J Phys Chem Lett 2013;4:1060–4.
- [195] Thotiyl MMO, Freunberger SA, Peng Z, Chen Y, Liu Z, Bruce PG. A stable cathode for the aprotic Li-O2 battery. Nat Mater 2013;12:1049–55.
- [196] Johnson L, Li C, Liu Z, Chen Y, Freunberger SA, Ashok PC, et al. The role of LiO2 solubility in O2 reduction in aprotic solvents and its consequences for Li-O2 batteries. Nat Chem 2014;6:1091–9.
- [197] Sharon D, Hirsberg D, Salama M, Afri M, Frimer AA, Noked M, et al. Mechanistic role of Li + dissociation level in aprotic Li-O2 battery. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2016;8:5300–7.
- [198] Adams BD, Radtke C, Black R, Trudeau ML, Zaghib K, Nazar LF. Current density dependence of peroxide formation in the Li-O2 battery and its effect on charge. Energy Environ Sci 2013;6:1772–8.
- [199] Tan P, Shyy W, Zhao TS, Wei ZH, An L. Discharge product morphology versus operating temperature in non-aqueous lithium-air batteries. J Power Sources 2015;278:133–40.
- [200] Griffith LD, Sleightholme AES, Mansfield JF, Siegel DJ, Monroe CW. Correlating Li/O2 cell capacity and product morphology with discharge current. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2015;7:7670–8.
- [201] Song M, Du X, Chen Y, Zhang L, Zhu D, Chen Y. Discharging temperature dependence of Li2O2 formation and its effect on charging polarization for Li-O2 Battery. Mater Res Bull 2015;68:75–9.
- [202] Tan P, Shi L, Shyy W, Zhao T. Morphology of the discharge product in nonaqueous lithium-oxygen batteries: furrowed toroid particles correspond to a lower charge voltage. Energy Technology 2016;4:393–400.
- [203] Kowalczk I, Read J, Salomon M. Li-air batteries: a classic example of limitations owing to solubilities. Pure Appl Chem 2007;79:851–60.
- [204] Padbury R, Zhang X. Lithium-oxygen batteries-Limiting factors that affect performance. J Power Sources 2011;196:4436–44.
- [205] Tan P, Shyy W, Zhao T. What is the ideal distribution of electrolyte inside cathode pores of non-aqueous lithium-air batteries? Sci Bull 2015;60:975–6.
- [206] Xia C, Bender CL, Bergner B, Peppler K, Janek J. An electrolyte partially-wetted cathode improving oxygen diffusion in cathodes of non-aqueous Li-air batteries. Electrochem Commun 2013;26:93–6.
- [207] Kim DS, Park YJ. A simple method for surface modification of carbon by polydopamine coating for enhanced Li–air batteries. Electrochim Acta 2014;132:297–306.
- [208] Zhang T, Zhou H. A reversible long-life lithium-air battery in ambient air. Nat Commun 2013;4:1817.
- [209] Balaish M, Kraytsberg A, Ein-Eli Y. Realization of an artificial three-phase reaction zone in a Li-air battery. Chemelectrochem 2014;1:90–4.
- [210] Chen XJ, Shellikeri A, Wu Q, Zheng JP, Hendrickson M, Plichta EJ. A high-rate rechargeable Li-air flow battery. J Electrochem Soc 2013;160:A1619–23.
- [211] Zhu YG, Jia C, Yang J, Pan F, Huang Q, Wang Q. Dual redox catalysts for oxygen reduction and evolution reactions: towards a redox flow Li-O2 battery. Chem Commun 2015;51:9451–4.
- [212] Li L, Manthiram A. Decoupled bifunctional air electrodes for high-performance hybrid lithium-air batteries. Nano Energy 2014;9:94–100.
  [213] Wang Y, Ohnishi R, Yoo E, He P, Kubota J, Domen K, et al. Nano- and micro-
- [213] Wang Y, Ohnishi R, Yoo E, He P, Kubota J, Domen K, et al. Nano- and microsized TiN as the electrocatalysts for ORR in Li-air fuel cell with alkaline aqueous electrolyte. J Mater Chem 2012;22:15549–55.
- [214] Wang Y, Zhou H. A lithium-air fuel cell using copper to catalyze oxygenreduction based on copper-corrosion mechanism. Chem Commun 2010;46:6305–7.
- [215] Wang L, Zhao X, Lu Y, Xu M, Zhang D, Ruoff RS, et al. CoMn2O4 spinel nanoparticles grown on graphene as bifunctional catalyst for lithium-air batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2011;158:A1379–82.
- [216] Li L, Liu C, He G, Fan D, Manthiram A. Hierarchical pore-in-pore and wire-inwire catalysts for rechargeable Zn- and Li-air batteries with ultra-long cycle life and high cell efficiency. Energy Environ Sci 2015;8:3274–82.
- [217] Shao Y, Ding F, Xiao J, Zhang J, Xu W, Park S, et al. Making Li-air batteries rechargeable: material challenges. Adv Funct Mater 2013;23:987–1004.
- [218] Mi R, Li S, Liu X, Liu L, Li Y, Mei J, et al. Electrochemical performance of binderfree carbon nanotubes with different nitrogen amounts grown on the nickel foam as cathodes in Li-O2 batteries. J Mater Chem A 2014;2:18746–53.
- [219] Shui J, Du F, Xue C, Li Q, Dai L. Vertically aligned N-doped coral-like carbon fiber arrays as efficient air electrodes for high-performance nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. ACS Nano 2014;8:3015–22.

- [220] Li Q, Xu P, Gao W, Ma S, Zhang G, Cao R, et al. Graphene/graphene-tube nanocomposites templated from cage-containing metal-organic frameworks for oxygen reduction in Li-O2 batteries. Adv Mater 2014;26:1378–86.
- [221] Nie H, Zhang Y, Zhou W, Li J, Wu B, Liu T, et al. Nitrogen-containing mesoporous carbon cathode for lithium-oxygen batteries: the influence of Nitrogen on oxygen reduction reaction. Electrochim Acta 2014;150:205–10.
- [222] Jiang HR, Zhao TS, Shi L, Tan P, An L. First-principles study of nitrogen-, boron-doped graphene and co-doped graphene as the potential catalysts in nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Phys Chem C 2016;120:6612–8.
- [223] Thomas ML, Yamanaka K, Ohta T, Byon HR. Perfluorinated moiety-grafted carbon nanotube electrode for the non-aqueous lithium-oxygen battery. Chem Commun 2014;51:3977–80.
- [224] Lim H, Song H, Gwon H, Park K, Kim J, Bae Y, et al. A new catalyst-embedded hierarchical air electrode for high-performance Li-O2 batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2013;6:3570–5.
- [225] Marinaro M, Riek U, Moorthy SKE, Bernhard J, Kaiser U, Wohlfahrt-Mehrens M, et al. Au-coated carbon cathodes for improved oxygen reduction and evolution kinetics in aprotic Li-O2 batteries. Electrochem Commun 2013;37:53–6.
- [226] Zhu D, Zhang L, Song M, Wang X, Chen Y. An in situ formed Pd nanolayer as a bifunctional catalyst for Li-air batteries in ambient or simulated air. Chem Commun 2013;49:9573–5.
- [227] Zhang Z, Su L, Yang M, Hu M, Bao J, Wei J, et al. A composite of Co nanoparticles highly dispersed on N-rich carbon substrates: an efficient electrocatalyst for Li-O2 battery cathodes. Chem Commun 2014;50:776–8.
- [228] Huang X, Yu H, Tan H, Zhu J, Zhang W, Wang C, et al. Carbon nanotubeencapsulated noble metal nanoparticle hybrid as a cathode material for Lioxygen batteries. Adv Funct Mater 2014;24:6516–23.
- [229] Li CC, Zhang W, Ang H, Yu H, Xia BY, Wang X, et al. Compressed hydrogen gasinduced synthesis of Au-Pt core-shell nanoparticle chains towards highperformance catalysts for Li-O2 batteries. J Mater Chem A 2014;2:10676–81.
- [230] Choi R, Jung J, Kim G, Song K, Kim Y, Jung SC, et al. Ultra-low overpotential and high rate capability in Li-O2 batteries through surface atom arrangement of PdCu nanocatalysts. Energy Environ Sci 2014;7:1362–8.
- [231] Oloniyo O, Kumar S, Scott K. Performance of MnO2 crystallographic phases in rechargeable lithium-air oxygen cathode. J Electron Mater 2012;41:921–7.
- [232] Su D, Dou S, Wang G. Single crystalline Co3O4 nanocrystals exposed with different crystal planes for Li-O2 batteries. Sci Rep 2014;4:5767.
- [233] Oh SH, Black R, Pomerantseva E, Lee J, Nazar LF. Synthesis of a metallic mesoporous pyrochlore as a catalyst for lithium-O2 batteries. Nat Chem 2012;4:1004–10.
- [234] Oh D, Qi J, Han B, Zhang G, Carney TJ, Ohmura J, et al. M13 Virus-directed synthesis of nanostructured metal oxides for lithium-oxygen batteries. Nano Lett 2014;14:4837–45.
- [235] Liu J, Younesi R, Gustafsson T, Edström K, Zhu J. Pt/α-MnO2 nanotube: a highly active electrocatalyst for Li–O2 battery. Nano Energy 2014;10:19–27.
- [236] Qu J, Lu M, Xu C, Ding B, Zhan Y, Yang J, et al. Oxide-on-metal as an inverted design of oxygen electrocatalysts for non-aqueous Li-O2 batteries. Nanoscale 2014;6:12324–7.
- [237] Shui J, Karan NK, Balasubramanian M, Li S, Liu D. Fe/N/C composite in Li-O2 battery: studies of catalytic structure and activity toward oxygen evolution reaction. J Am Chem Soc 2012;134:16654–61.
- [238] Park J, Jun Y, Lee W, Gerbec JA, See KA, Stucky GD. Bimodal mesoporous titanium nitride/carbon microfibers as efficient and stable electrocatalysts for Li-O2 batteries. Chem Mater 2013;25:3779–81.
- [239] Li J, Zou M, Chen L, Huang Z, Guan L. An efficient bifunctional catalyst of Fe/ Fe3C carbon nanofibers for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. J Mater Chem A 2014;2:10634–8.
- [240] Luo W, Chou S, Wang J, Zhai Y, Liu H. A metal-free, free-standing, macroporous graphene@g-C3N4 composite air electrode for high-energy lithium oxygen batteries. Small 2015;11:2817–24.
- [241] Luo W, Chou S, Wang J, Liu H. A B4C nanowire and carbon nanotube composite as a novel bifunctional electrocatalyst for high energy lithium oxygen batteries. J Mater Chem A 2015;3:18395–9.
- [242] Ma Z, Yuan X, Zhang Z, Mei D, Li L, Ma Z, et al. Novel flower-like nickel sulfide as an efficient electrocatalyst for nonaqueous lithium-air batteries. Sci Rep 2015;5:18199.
- [243] Noked M, Schroeder MA, Pearse AJ, Rubloff GW, Lee SB. Protocols for evaluating and reporting Li–O2 cell performance. J Phys Chem Lett 2016;7:211–5.
- [244] Zhang W, Shen Y, Sun D, Huang Z, Huang Y. Objectively evaluating the cathode performance of lithium-oxygen batteries. Adv Energy Mater 2017. 1602938.
- [245] Jing Y, Zhou Z. Computational insights into oxygen reduction reaction and initial Li2O2 nucleation on pristine and N-doped graphene in Li-O2 batteries. ACS Catal 2015;5:4309–17.
- [246] Yun K, Hwang Y, Chung Y. Effective catalytic media using graphitic nitrogendoped site in graphene for a non-aqueous Li-O2 battery: a density functional theory study. J Power Sources 2015;277:222–7.
- [247] Lu Y, Gasteiger HA, Shao-Horn Y. Catalytic activity trends of oxygen reduction reaction for nonaqueous Li-air batteries. J Am Chem Soc 2011;133:19048–51.
- [248] Dathar GKP, Shelton WA, Xu Y. Trends in the catalytic activity of transition metals for the oxygen reduction reaction by lithium. J Phys Chem Lett 2012;3:891–5.

- [249] Lu Y, Gallant BM, Kwabi DG, Harding JR, Mitchell RR, Whittingham MS, et al. Lithium-oxygen batteries: bridging mechanistic understanding and battery performance. Energy Environ Sci 2013;6:750–68.
- [250] Kim H, Jung SC, Han Y, Oh SH. An atomic-level strategy for the design of a low overpotential catalyst for Li-O2 batteries. Nano Energy 2015;13:679–86.
- [251] Lu J, Lee YJ, Luo X, Lau KC, Asadi M, Wang H, et al. A lithium-oxygen battery based on lithium superoxide. Nature 2016;529:377–83.
- [252] Yang Y, Zhang T, Wang X, Chen L, Wu N, Liu W, et al. Tuning the morphology and crystal structure of Li2O2: a graphene model electrode study for Li–O2 battery. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2016;8:21350–7.
- [253] Liu Z, De Jesus LR, Banerjee S, Mukherjee PP. A mechanistic evaluation of LixOy formation on δ-MnO2 in non-aqueous Li-air batteries. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2016;8:23028–36.
- [254] Fan W, Wang B, Guo X, Kong X, Liu J. Nanosize stabilized Li-deficient Li2–xO2 through cathode architecture for high performance Li-O2 batteries. Nano Energy 2016;27:577–86.
- [255] Harding JR, Lu Y, Tsukada Y, Shao-Horn Y. Evidence of catalyzed oxidation of Li2O2 for rechargeable Li-air battery applications. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2012;14:10540-6.
- [256] Lu Y, Shao-Horn Y. Probing the reaction kinetics of the charge reactions of nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Phys Chem Lett 2013;4:93–9.
- [257] Black R, Lee J, Adams B, Mims CA, Nazar LF. The role of catalysts and peroxide oxidation in lithium-oxygen batteries. Angew Chem Int Ed 2013;52:392–6.
- [258] Ganapathy S, Adams BD, Stenou G, Anastasaki MS, Goubitz K, Miao X, et al. Nature of Li2O2 oxidation in a Li-O2 battery revealed by operando X-ray diffraction. J Am Chem Soc 2014;136:16335–44.
- [259] Yao KPC, Risch M, Sayed SY, Lee Y, Harding JR, Grimaud A, et al. Solid-state activation of Li2O2 oxidation kinetics and implications for Li-O2 batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2015;8:2417–26.
- [260] Zhu J, Ren X, Liu J, Zhang W, Wen Z. Unraveling the catalytic mechanism of Co3O4 for the oxygen evolution reaction in a Li-O2 battery. ACS Catal 2015;5:73–81.
- [261] Gao R, Zhu J, Xiao X, Hu Z, Liu J, Liu X. Facet-dependent electrocatalytic performance of Co3O4 for rechargeable Li-O2 battery. J Phys Chem C 2015;119:4516–23.
- [262] Zhu J, Wang F, Wang B, Wang Y, Liu J, Zhang W, et al. Surface acidity as descriptor of catalytic activity for oxygen evolution reaction in Li-O2 battery. J Am Chem Soc 2015;137:13572–9.
- [263] Yang J, Zhai D, Wang H, Lau KC, Schlueter JA, Du P, et al. Evidence for lithium superoxide-like species in the discharge product of a Li-O2 battery. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2013;15:3764–71.
- [264] Xia C, Waletzko M, Chen L, Peppler K, Klar PJ, Janek J. Evolution of Li2O2 growth and its effect on kinetics of Li-O2 batteries. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2014;6:12083–92.
- [265] Zhai D, Wang H, Yang J, Lau KC, Li K, Amine K, et al. Disproportionation in Li-O2 batteries based on a large surface area carbon cathode. J Am Chem Soc 2013;135:15364–72.
- [266] Zhai D, Wang H, Lau KC, Gao J, Redfern PC, Kang F, et al. Raman evidence for late stage disproportionation in a Li-O2 battery. J Phys Chem Lett 2014;5:2705-10.
- [267] Fan W, Wang B, Guo X, Kong X, Liu J. Nanosize stabilized Li-deficient Li 2– x O 2 through cathode architecture for high performance Li-O 2 batteries. Nano Energy 2016;27:577–86.
- [268] Hu Y, Han X, Cheng F, Zhao Q, Hu Z, Chen J. Size effect of lithium peroxide on charging performance of Li-O2 batteries. Nanoscale 2014;6:177–80.
- [269] Yilmaz E, Yogi C, Yamanaka K, Ohta T, Byon HR. Promoting formation of noncrystalline Li2O2 in the Li-O2 battery with RuO2 nanoparticles. Nano Lett 2013;13:4679–84.
- [270] Xu J, Wang Z, Xu D, Zhang L, Zhang X. Tailoring deposition and morphology of discharge products towards high-rate and long-life lithium-oxygen batteries. Nat Commun 2013;4:2438.
- [271] Li F, Chen J. Mechanistic evolution of aprotic lithium-oxygen batteries. Adv Energy Mater 2017. 201602934.
- [272] Ma S, Wu Y, Wang J, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Yan X, et al. Reversibility of noble metal-catalyzed aprotic Li-O2 batteries. Nano Lett 2015;15:8084–90.
- [273] Kwak W, Lau KC, Shin C, Amine K, Curtiss LA, Sun Y. A Mo2C/carbon nanotube composite cathode for lithium-oxygen batteries with high energy efficiency and long cycle life. ACS Nano 2015;9:4129–37.
- [274] Kundu D, Black R, Adams B, Harrison K, Zavadil K, Nazar LF. Nanostructured metal carbides for aprotic Li-O2 batteries: new insights into interfacial reactions and cathode stability. J Phys Chem Lett 2015;6:2252–8.
- [275] McCloskey BD, Speidel A, Scheffler R, Miller DC, Viswanathan V, Hummelshoj JS, et al. Twin problems of interfacial carbonate formation in nonaqueous Li-O2 batteries. J Phys Chem Lett 2012;3:997–1001.
- [276] Itkis DM, Semenenko DA, Kataev EY, Belova AI, Neudachina VS, Sirotina AP, et al. Reactivity of carbon in lithium-oxygen battery positive electrodes. Nano Lett 2013;13:4697–701.
- [277] Lu J, Lei Y, Lau KC, Luo X, Du P, Wen J, et al. A nanostructured cathode architecture for low charge overpotential in lithium-oxygen batteries. Nat Commun 2013;4:2383.
- [278] Xie J, Yao X, Cheng Q, Madden IP, Dornath P, Chang C, et al. Three dimensionally ordered mesoporous carbon as a stable, high-performance Li-O2 battery cathode. Angew Chem 2015;127:4373–7.
- [279] Jian Z, Liu P, Li F, He P, Guo X, Chen M, et al. Core-shell-structured CNT@RuO2 composite as a high-performance cathode catalyst for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Angew Chem Int Ed 2014;53:442–6.

- [280] Cao Y, Zheng M, Cai S, Lin X, Yang C, Hu W, et al. Carbon embedded small alpha]-MnO2@graphene nanosheet composite: a bifunctional catalyst for high performance lithium oxygen batteries. J Mater Chem A 2014;2:18736–41.
- [281] Wang R, Yu X, Bai J, Li H, Huang X, Chen L, et al. Electrochemical decomposition of Li2CO3 in NiO-Li2CO3 nanocomposite thin film and powder electrodes. J Power Sources 2012;218:113–8.
- [282] Hong M, Choi HC, Byon HR. Nanoporous NiO plates with a unique role for promoted oxidation of carbonate and carboxylate species in the Li-O2 battery. Chem Mater 2015;27:2234-41.
- [283] Song S, Xu W, Zheng J, Luo L, Engelhard MH, Bowden ME, et al. Complete decomposition of Li2CO3 in Li–O2 batteries using Ir/B4C as noncarbon-based oxygen electrode. Nano Lett 2017;17:1417–24.
- [284] Liu Z, Zhang Y, Jia C, Wan H, Peng Z, Bi Y, et al. Decomposing lithium carbonate with a mobile catalyst. Nano Energy 2017;36:390–7.
- [285] Lee H, Kim Y, Lee DJ, Song J, Lee YM, Kim H, et al. Directly grown Co3O4 nanowire arrays on Ni-foam: structural effects of carbon-free and binder-free cathodes for lithium-oxygen batteries. J Mater Chem A 2014;2:11891–8.
- [286] Hu X, Han X, Hu Y, Cheng F, Chen J. epsilon-MnO2 nanostructures directly grown on Ni foam: a cathode catalyst for rechargeable Li-O2 batteries. Nanoscale 2014;6:3522–5.
- [287] Shen C, Wen Z, Wang F, Rui K, Lu Y, Wu X. Wave-like free-standing NiCo2O4 cathode for lithium-oxygen battery with high discharge capacity. J Power Sources 2015;294:593–601.
- [288] Wu B, Zhang H, Zhou W, Wang M, Li X, Zhang H. Carbon-free CoO mesoporous nanowire array cathode for high-performance aprotic Li-O2 batteries. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2015;7:23182–9.
- [289] Xu S, Zhu Q, Long J, Wang H, Xie X, Wang K, et al. Low-overpotential Li–O2 batteries based on TFSI intercalated Co–Ti layered double oxides. Adv Funct Mater 2016;26:1365–74.
- [290] Kim ST, Choi N, Park S, Cho J. Optimization of carbon- and binder-free au nanoparticle-coated ni nanowire electrodes for lithium-oxygen batteries. Adv Energy Mater 2014;5:1401030.
- [291] Adams BD, Black R, Radtke C, Williams Z, Mehdi BL, Browning ND, et al. The importance of nanometric passivating films on cathodes for Li-Air batteries. ACS Nano 2014;8:12483–93.
- [292] Nazar L, Kundu D, Black R, Jamstorp E. A highly active nanostructured metallic oxide cathode for aprotic Li-O2 batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2015;8:1292–8.
- [293] Ng JWD, Tang M, Jaramillo TF. A carbon-free, precious-metal-free, highperformance O2 electrode for regenerative fuel cells and metal-air batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2014;7:2017–24.
- [294] Wei ZH, Tan P, An L, Zhao TS. A non-carbon cathode electrode for lithiumoxygen batteries. Appl Energy 2014;130:134–8.
- [295] Wei ZH, Zhao TS, Zhu XB, Tan P. MnO2-x nanosheets on stainless steel felt as a carbon- and binder-free cathode for non-aqueous lithium-oxygen batteries. J Power Sources 2016;306:724–32.
- [296] Luo W, Gao X, Chou S, Wang J, Liu H. Porous AgPd-Pd composite nanotubes as highly efficient electrocatalysts for lithium-oxygen batteries. Adv Mater 2015;27:6862–9.
- [297] Zhao G, Mo R, Wang B, Zhang L, Sun K. Enhanced cyclability of Li-O2 batteries based on TiO2 supported cathodes with no carbon or binder. Chem Mater 2014;26:2551–6.
- [298] Zhao G, Niu Y, Zhang L, Sun K. Ruthenium oxide modified titanium dioxide nanotube arrays as carbon and binder free lithium-air battery cathode catalyst. J Power Sources 2014;270:386–90.
- [299] Li F, Tang D, Chen Y, Golberg D, Kitaura H, Zhang T, et al. Ru/ITO: a carbonfree cathode for nonaqueous Li-O2 battery. Nano Lett 2013;13:4702–7.
- [300] Li F, Tang D, Jian Z, Liu D, Golberg D, Yamada A, et al. Li-O2 battery based on highly efficient Sb-doped tin oxide supported Ru nanoparticles. Adv Mater 2014;26:4659.
- [301] Xie J, Yao X, Madden IP, Jiang D, Chou L, Tsung C, et al. Selective deposition of Ru nanoparticles on TiSi2 nanonet and its utilization for Li2O2 formation and decomposition. J Am Chem Soc 2014;136:8903–6.
- [302] Yao X, Cheng Q, Xie J, Dong Q, Wang D. Functionalizing titanium disilicide nanonets with cobalt oxide and palladium for stable Li oxygen battery operations. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2015;7:21948–55.
- [303] Zhao G, Zhang L, Niu Y, Sun K, Rooney D. Enhanced durability of Li-O2 batteries employing vertically standing Ti nanowire array supported cathodes. J Mater Chem A 2016;4:4009–14.
- [304] Veith GM, Dudney NJ. Current collectors for rechargeable Li-air batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2011;158:A658–63.
- [305] Tan P, Wei Z, Shyy W, Zhao TS, Zhu X. A nano-structured RuO2/NiO cathode enables the operation of non-aqueous lithium-air batteries in ambient air. Energy Environ Sci 2016;9:1783–93.
- [306] Takechi K, Shiga T, Asaoka T. A Li-O2/CO2 battery. Chem Commun 2011;47:3463–5.
- [307] Guo Z, Dong X, Yuan S, Wang Y, Xia Y. Humidity effect on electrochemical performance of Li–O2 batteries. J Power Sources 2014;264:1–7.
- [308] Ling C, Zhang R, Takechi K, Mizuno F. Intrinsic barrier to electrochemically decompose Li2CO3 and LiOH. J Phys Chem C 2014;118:26591–8.
- [309] Zhang J, Wang D, Xu W, Xiao J, Williford RE. Ambient operation of Li/air batteries. J Power Sources 2010;195:4332–7.
- [310] Wang D, Xiao J, Xu W, Zhang J. High capacity pouch-type Li-air batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2010;157:A760–4.

- [311] Zhang J, Xu W, Liu W. Oxygen-selective immobilized liquid membranes for operation of lithium-air batteries in ambient air. J Power Sources 2010;195:7438–44.
- [312] Crowther O, Meyer B, Morgan M, Salomon M. Primary Li-air cell development. J Power Sources 2011;196:1498–502.
- [313] Crowther O, Keeny D, Moureau DM, Meyer B, Salomon M, Hendrickson M. Electrolyte optimization for the primary lithium metal air battery using an oxygen selective membrane. J Power Sources 2012;202:347–51.
- [314] Cao L, Lv F, Liu Y, Wang W, Huo Y, Fu X, et al. A high perfomance O2 selective membrane based on CAU-1-NH2@Polydopamine and PMMA polymer for Liair batteries. Chem Commun 2014;51:4364–7.
- [315] Zhu XB, Zhao TS, Wei ZH, Tan P, An L. A high-rate and long cycle life solidstate lithium-air battery. Energy Environ Sci 2015;8:3745–54.
- [316] Wang G, Huang L, Liu S, Xie J, Zhang S, Zhe P, et al. Understanding moisture and carbon dioxide involved interfacial reactions on electrochemical performance of lithium-air batteries catalyzed by gold/manganese-dioxide. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2015;7:23876–84.
- [317] Wu S, Tang J, Li F, Liu X, Yamauchi Y, Ishida M, et al. A Synergistic system for lithium-oxygen batteries in humid atmosphere integrating a composite cathode and a hydrophobic ionic liquid-based electrolyte. Adv Funct Mater 2016;26:3291–8.
- [318] Guo Z, Li C, Liu J, Wang Y, Xia Y. A long-life lithium-air battery in ambient air with a polymer electrolyte containing a redox mediator. Angew Chem 2017;129:7613–7.
- [319] Xu W, Wang J, Ding F, Chen X, Nasybutin E, Zhang Y, et al. Lithium metal anodes for rechargeable batteries. Energy Environ Sci 2014;7:513–37.
- [320] Younesi R, Hahlin M, Roberts M, Edstrom K. The SEI layer formed on lithium metal in the presence of oxygen: a seldom considered component in the development of the Li-O2 battery. J Power Sources 2013;225:40–5.
- [321] Assary RS, Lu J, Du P, Luo X, Zhang X, Ren Y, et al. The effect of oxygen crossover on the anode of a Li-O2 battery using an ether-based solvent: insights from experimental and computational studies. ChemSusChem 2013;6:51–5.
- [322] Shui J, Okasinski JS, Kenesei P, Dobbs HA, Zhao D, Almer JD, et al. Reversibility of anodic lithium in rechargeable lithium-oxygen batteries. Nat Commun 2013;4:2255.
- [323] Liu Q, Xu J, Yuan S, Chang Z, Xu D, Yin Y, et al. Artificial protection film on lithium metal anode toward long-cycle-life lithium-oxygen batteries. Adv Mater 2015;27:5241–7.
- [324] Walker W, Giordani V, Uddin J, Bryantsev VS, Chase GV, Addison D. A rechargeable Li-O2 battery using a lithium nitrate/N,N-dimethylacetamide electrolyte. J Am Chem Soc 2013;135:2076–9.
- [325] Giordani V, Walker W, Bryantsev VS, Uddin J, Chase GV, Addison D. Synergistic effect of oxygen and LiNO3 on the interfacial stability of lithium metal in a Li/O2 battery. J Electrochem Soc 2013;160:A1544–50.
- [326] Uddin J, Bryantsev VS, Giordani V, Walker W, Chase GV, Addison D. Lithium nitrate as regenerable SEI stabilizing agent for rechargeable Li/O2 batteries. J Phys Chem Lett 2013;4:3760–5.
- [327] Crowther O, West AC. Effect of electrolyte composition on lithium dendrite growth. J Electrochem Soc 2008;155:A806–11.
- [328] Nishikawa K, Mori T, Nishida T, Fukunaka Y, Rosso M, Homma T. In situ observation of dendrite growth of electrodeposited Li metal. J Electrochem Soc 2010;157:A1212–7.

- [329] Ding F, Xu W, Chen X, Zhang J, Engelhard MH, Zhang Y, et al. Effects of carbonate solvents and lithium salts on morphology and coulombic efficiency of lithium electrode. J Electrochem Soc 2013;160:A1894–901.
- [330] Nishida T, Nishikawa K, Rosso M, Fukunaka Y. Optical observation of Li dendrite growth in ionic liquid. Electrochim Acta 2013;100:333–41.
- [331] Brissot C, Rosso M, Chazalviel JN, Baudry P, Lascaud S. In situ study of dendritic growth in lithium/PEO-salt/lithium cells. Electrochim Acta 1998;43:1569–74.
- [332] Brissot C, Rosso M, Chazalviel JN, Lascaud S. In situ concentration cartography in the neighborhood of dendrites growing in lithium/polymer-electrolyte/ lithium cells. J Electrochem Soc 1999;146:4393–400.
- [333] Brissot C, Rosso M, Chazalviel JN, Lascaud S. Dendritic growth mechanisms in lithium/polymer cells. J Power Sources 1999;81:925–9.
- [334] Rosso M, Brissot C, Teyssot A, Dolle M, Sannier L, Tarascon J, et al. Dendrite short-circuit and fuse effect on Li/polymer/Li cells. Electrochim Acta 2006;51:5334–40.
- [335] Liu S, Imanishi N, Zhang T, Hirano A, Takeda Y, Yamamoto O, et al. Effect of nano-silica filler in polymer electrolyte on Li dendrite formation in Li/poly (ethylene oxide)-Li(CF3SO2)(2)N/Li. J Power Sources 2010;195:6847–53.
- [336] Liu S, Wang H, Imanishi N, Zhang T, Hirano A, Takeda Y, et al. Effect of codoping nano-silica filler and N-methyl-N-propylpiperidinium bis (trifluoromethanesulfonyl)imide into polymer electrolyte on Li dendrite formation in Li/poly(ethylene oxide)-Li(CF3SO2)(2)N/Li. J Power Sources 2011;196:7681-6.
- [337] Lee DJ, Lee H, Song J, Ryou M, Lee YM, Kim H, et al. Composite protective layer for Li metal anode in high-performance lithium-oxygen batteries. Electrochem Commun 2014;40:45–8.
- [338] Kang SJ, Mori T, Suk J, Kim DW, Kang Y, Wilcke W, et al. Improved cycle efficiency of lithium metal electrodes in Li-O2 batteries by a twodimensionally ordered nanoporous separator. J Mater Chem A 2014;2:9970–4.
- [339] Lee CK, Park YJ. Csl as multifunctional redox mediator for enhanced Li-air batteries. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2016;8:8561–7.
- [340] Balasubramanian P, Marinaro M, Theil S, Wohlfahrt-Mehrens M, Jörissen L. Au-coated carbon electrodes for aprotic Li–O2 batteries with extended cycle life: the key issue of the Li-ion source. J Power Sources 2015;278:156–62.
- [341] Hassoun J, Jung H, Lee D, Park J, Amine K, Sun Y, et al. A metal-free, lithiumion oxygen battery: a step forward to safety in lithium-air batteries. Nano Lett 2012;12:5775–9.
- [342] Guo Z, Dong X, Wang Y, Xia Y. A lithium air battery with a lithiated Al-carbon anode. Chem Commun 2015;51:676–8.
- [343] Teranishi R, Si Q, Mizukoshi F, Kawakubo M, Matsui M, Takeda Y, et al. Silicon anode for rechargeable aqueous lithium-air batteries. J Power Sources 2015;273:538-43.
- [344] Tang Q, Zhou Z, Shen P. Are MXenes promising anode materials for Li ion batteries? Computational studies on electronic properties and Li storage capability of Ti3C2 and Ti3C2X2 (X = F, OH) monolayer. J Am Chem Soc 2012;134:16909–16.
- [345] Li W, Yang Y, Zhang G, Zhang Y. Ultrafast and directional diffusion of lithium in phosphorene for high-performance lithium-ion battery. Nano Lett 2015;15:1691–7.
- [346] Mannix AJ, Zhou X, Kiraly B, Wood JD, Alducin D, Myers BD, et al. Synthesis of borophenes: anisotropic, two-dimensional boron polymorphs. Science 2015;350:1513–6.